
 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District Five 

 
Brett Sanders 

V. Chairman, District Four 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 
 

John B. Wright, Jr. 
District One 

 
Glenn Davis 

District Two 

Ray Graham 
District Three 

 
Jimmy Davis 

District Six 

M. Cindy Wilson 
District Seven 

 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 

 Special Presentation Meeting 
Tuesday, October 4, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. 

Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
 
2. RESOLUTIONS/PROCLAMATIONS: 
 
   a. 2022-056: A Resolution expressing appreciation and gratitude to Oconee County for assistance with the 

Anderson County Regional Airport; and other matters related thereto. 
Hon. Tommy Dunn 

 
   b. 2022-058:  A Resolution to honor and recognize Mary B. Forrester for her extraordinary service to the Town of 

Iva and Anderson County; and other matters related thereto. 
Hon. Ray Graham 

 
 
3. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, October 4, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. 
Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER     
 
 
 
2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE                                                          Hon. Ray Graham 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, October 4, 2022 
 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
 
 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES                                      minutes not received September 20, 2022 
                              

 
 
 
 
4. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                        Agenda Matters Only  
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. PRESENTATION OF PROPOSED VETERANS MEMORIAL FOR THE FREDDIE STOWERS 

VETERANS MEMORIAL PARK:                  
 

Mr. Ryan Hulon (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
 
 
 
6. ORDINANCE THIRD READING: 
    
    a. 2022-036: An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted 

July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- .92 acres from C-1N 
(Neighborhood Commercial District) to C-2 (Highway Commercial District) on a parcel of land, identified as 
5930 Highway 187 in the Mount Tabor Precinct shown in Deed Book 13946 Page 196.  The parcel is further 
identified as TMS #43-00-12-011. (District 4)  

Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

    
    b. 2022-039: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 

park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville Counties so as to enlarge the park. [Project Care] (PUBLIC 
HEARING THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    
   c. 2022-040: An Ordinance to transfer certain parcels of real property to the Town of Pelzer; and other matters 

related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 
Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
 

    
 
   d. 2022-041: An Ordinance to transfer a right-of-way interest in real property to Big Water Marina, LLC; and 

other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 
 

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, October 4, 2022 
 
Page 3 

 

   
 

   e. 2022-037: Reconsideration of An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax 
agreement by and between Anderson County, South Carolina, and Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC (formerly 
known to the County as "Project Little Brother") with respect to certain economic development property in the 
County, whereby such property will be subject to certain payments in lieu of taxes, including the provision of 
certain special source credits; and other matters related thereto. [Project Little Brother] 

 
Mr. Tommy Dunn (allotted 5 minutes) 

     
 
7. ORDINANCE SECOND READING:  
 
    a. 2022-045: An Ordinance to approve a real estate lease with Clemson University for space in the Anderson 

County 1428 Pearman Dairy Road Facility; and other matters related thereto.  
 

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

 
    b. 2022-046: An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted 

July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 91.78 acres from R-20 
(Single-Family Residential District) to 1-2 (Industrial Park District) on a parcel of land, identified as 3508 in the 
Centerville Station A Precinct shown in Deed Book 15537 page 311.  The parcel further identified as TMS# 95-
00-03-006. (District 5). (PUBLIC HEARING THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
 

   c. 2022-047: An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted 
July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 16.3 acres from R-20 
(Single-Family Residential District) to C-3 (Commercial District) on a parcel of land, identified as 54.22 acres 
on Beaverdam Road in Williamston Mill Precinct shown in Deed Book 11140 page 228.  The parcel further 
identified as TMS# 220-00-08-007 (District 7). (PUBLIC HEARING THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes)   

  
 
8. ORDINANCE FIRST READING:  
 
    a. 2022-048: An Ordinance authorizing an infrastructure financing agreement on behalf of Tetramer Technologies 

LLC and Hoobastank Industries LLC, for a new project (Tetramer 2) to be located in an already existing jointly 
owned and operated industrial park in conjunction with Greenville County (Tetramet MCIP), and other matters 
related thereto. TITLE ONLY 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

   b. 2022-049: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by and 
between Anderson County, South Carolina and a company or companies known to the County at this time as 
Project Cove with respect to certain economic development property in the county, whereby such property will 
be subject to certain payments in lieu of taxes, including the provision of certain special source credits; and 
other matters related thereto. [Project Cove] 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

   c. 2022-050: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 
park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville Counties so as to enlarge the park to include certain property of 
Project Cove; and other matters related thereto. 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, October 4, 2022 
 
Page 4 

 

   
 

9. RESOLUTIONS:  
    
    a. 2022-057: A Resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of an inducement agreement by and between 

Anderson County, South Carolina and Project Cove, whereby, under certain conditions, Anderson County will 
execute a fee in lieu of tax and special source credit agreement with respect to a project in the county whereby 
the project would be subject to payment of certain fees in lieu of taxes, and whereby project/company will be 
provided certain credits against fee payments in reimbursement of investment in related qualified infrastructure; 
and other matters related thereto. 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes)     
 
10. CHANGE ORDERS/BID APPROVALS: 
      a. Bid #23-008 Waste Tire Recycling 
      b. Bid #23-009 Articulating Hauler  
      c. Bid #23-010 Asbestos Abatement/Jail Site Buildings  
      d. Change Order for Fleet Building and release of retainage. 
                                                                                                                                                              Mr. Rusty Burns 
 
11. APPROVAL OF MOU BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, STARR-IVA WATER & SEWER 

DISTRICT, AND LOLLIS METALS, INC. 
 
12. REQUESTS BY COUNCIL:  
     a. Anderson Free Clinic-Districts 1-6 
     b. Hope Missions of the Upstate-Districts 1-7 
     c. Anderson Arts Center-Districts 1-7 
     d. Town of West Pelzer-District 7 
     e. United Way of Anderson/Operation & Marketing 211-Districts 1-7 
     f. United Way of Anderson/Camp iRock-Districts 1-7 
     g. Piedmont Public Service District-District 6 
     h. City of Belton-District 3 
     i. Town of Starr-District 3 
 
       
13. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT:     
 
14. CITIZENS COMMENTS               Non-Agenda Matters 
 
15. REMARKS FROM COUNCIL 
 
16. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 

 
Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a 

modification of policies or procedures in order to participate in this program, service 
or activity please contact the office of the program, service or activity as soon as 

possible but no later than 24 hours before the scheduled event. For assistance, please 
contact the Clerk to Council at (864) 260-1036. 



 
 

 

 

                                        

RESOLUTION 2022-056 

A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING APPRECIATION AND GRATITUDE TO OCONEE COUNTY 
FOR ASSISTANCE WITH THE ANDERSON COUNTY REGIONAL AIRPORT AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

Whereas, the Anderson County Council wishes to thank the Oconee County Council, 
Administrator, Airport Manager, and Staff for their generous offer to assist the Anderson 
County Regional Airport. 
 

Whereas, the Oconee and Pickens airports are temporarily operating at a much reduced 
level due to the airport receiving large airport upgrade grants, much of their air traffic is 
temporarily coming to the Anderson Airport. 
 

Whereas, their influx of traffic is occurring during one of the busiest times of the year.  
Oconee County has been vital in allowing air visitors to still access tourism and football 
activities in our beautiful tri-county area. 

 

Whereas, Anderson and Oconee County share in many joint ventures such as Tri-County 
Technical College and many others.  This generosity exceeds those normal bounds.  
 

Now, therefore, be it resolved the Anderson County Council sincerely appreciates the spirit 
and generosity extended to our county by the Oconee County Council and further illustrates 
our special and common interest in our beautiful part of South Carolina. 

Resolved in a meeting duly assembled this 4th day of October 2022. 

     FOR ANDERSON COUNTY      

         ________________________        _______________________                   ________________________         
         Tommy Dunn, Chairman                 John B. Wright, Jr.                            Glenn A. Davis 
        District Five         District One                                       District Two 
         
        _____________________                _____________________                ______________________ 
         Ray Graham                                     Brett Sanders                                    Jimmy Davis 
         District Three                                   District Four                                     District Six 
 
        _____________________                   ATTEST:                                       ______________________ 
         Cindy Wilson                                   ______________________              Renee Watts 
         District Seven                                     Rusty Burns                                     Clerk to Council 
                                                                          County Administrator 



 
 
 
 

                                                    RESOLUTION 2022-058 
 

A RESOLUTION TO HONOR AND RECORNIZE MARY B. FORRESTER FOR HER 
EXTRAORDINARY SERVICE TO THE TOWN OF IVA AND ANDERSON COUNTY; 
AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 
WHEREAS, a life-long resident of Iva, Mary Forrester has served the citizens of the Town of Iva 
and Anderson County for many years with exceptional dedication and passion; and 
 
WHEREAS, she has served as a poll manager for Anderson County Elections for over twenty-
five years, where she has maintained a high level of integrity and impartiality in carrying out her 
duties and responsibilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mary was elected to the Iva Town Council in 2004, having served for eighteen 
consecutive years as councilwoman and mayor pro-temp, where she has brought respect, honor 
and integrity by leading by example, exhibiting the highest level of ethics and maintaining a 
superior moral character; and 
 
WHEREAS, she is active in many church and civic organizations, including the Sunrise Seniors, 
Circle of Hope Widows, Iva Antique Body Shop, and many others where she exhibits outstanding 
community spirit and maintains a demeanor that has made participating with her a pleasure for all; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, by demonstrating unwavering commitment, willingness, and the ability to 
understand and respond to the concerns of the people she so lovingly serves, she has a made a 
substantial contribution to the betterment of the Town of Iva and Anderson County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council does hereby by 
commend Mary B. Forrester for her time-honored legacy of dedication to public service to the 
Town of Iva and Anderson County. 
 
RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled this 4th day of October, 2022 

 
FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman    Ray Graham, District Three 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________  _____________________________ 
Rusty Burns      Renee Watts 
County Administrator     Clerk to Counci 































PPAB 6356633v1

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-039 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND 
BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF ANDERSON AND 
GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK; AND 
OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted October 19, 2010, by Anderson County 
Council, Anderson County entered into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated December 1, 2010, as amended, with Greenville County (“Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park created as a result of 
the Agreement (“Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of Anderson County 
and Greenville County; 

WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Greenville County to an entity 
identified by Greenville County as Project Care, it is now desired that the boundaries of the Park be enlarged 
to include parcels in Greenville County;  

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that Exhibit A to the Agreement is 
and shall be amended and revised to include property located in Greenville County described in the schedule 
attached to this Ordinance, and, pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, at and after adoption by Greenville 
County of a corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to so include the property and 
Exhibit A as so revised, without further action by either county. 

DONE in meeting duly assembled this 4th day of October 2022. 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ ________________________________________ 
Rusty Burns       Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator  Anderson County Council 

_______________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Anderson County Council 



PPAB 6356633v1 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 
 
First Reading:   September 6, 2022  
Second Reading:  September 20, 2022 
Third Reading:   October 4, 2022 
Public Hearing:   October 4, 2022



 

PPAB 6356633v1 

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
All that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, with all improvements located thereon, lying and being in the 
State of South Carolina, County of Greenville, being shown and designated as 4.89 acres on plat entitled 
"Survey for U.S. Tool Inc." dated August 2, 1999, prepared by Chapman Surveying Co. Inc., recorded in 
the Office of the Register of Deeds for Greenville County in Plat Book 40-V at Page 68, reference being 
made to said plat for a more complete metes and bounds description hereof. 
 
LESS AND EXCEPT, HOWEVER, that portion of the property containing 624 square feet, more or less, 
conveyed to the County of Greenville for Chick Springs Road Improvement Project by deed dated June 25, 
2002, recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Greenville County on January 10, 2003 in Deed 
Book 2022 at Page 1975. 
 
This being the same property as conveyed to Robin Jean Sarles, Trustee of the Robin Jean Sarles Revocable 
Trust, U/D/T dated May 4, 2020, And As May Be Amended from Teamack, LLC by deed executed May 
4, 2020 and recorded May 8, 2020 in Deed Book 2593 at Page 2765 in the Office of Register of Deeds for 
Greenville County, South Carolina. 
 
TMS # T011000201900 
 
  



 

PPAB 6356633v1 4 

SOUTH CAROLINA    ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 

I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify that 
attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and received 
majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of September 6, 2022, September 20, 2022, and 
October 4, 2022, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and an 
original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 

 
 
       
Clerk, Anderson County Council 

Dated:    , 2022 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-040 

AN ORDINANCE TO TRANSFER CERTAIN PARCELS OF REAL PROPERTY TO 
THE TOWN OF PELZER; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, the Anderson County code requires a public hearing prior to the sale of real 
property; and 

 WHEREAS, the town of Pelzer has requested transfer of ownership over the below 
referenced real properties; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County has never utilized these properties and has no current plan 
to utilize them; and  

 WHEREAS, the requested parcels of real property consist of thin strips of concrete paths, 
previously used as walkways, that are situated between privately owned property.   

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 

1. Anderson County desires to transfer the following parcels of real property to the town 
of Pelzer: 

a. Parcel at 156 Paul Street bearing TMS 243-02-09-002. 
b. Parcel at 162 Fuller Street bearing TMS 243-02-09-008. 
c. Parcel at 378A Front Street bearing TMS 243-03-09-003. 
d. Parcel at 388A Goodrich Street bearing TMS 243-03-10-007.  

 
2. All other terms, provisions, sections, and contents of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson 

County, South Carolina not specifically affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not 
affect the remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the public hearing and the third reading 

in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina. 
 
 

ORDAINED in a meeting duly assembled this 4th day of October 2022. 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 
 
 
 
 



 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
First Reading:         September 6, 2022 
Second Reading:    September 20, 2022 
Third Reading:       October 4, 2022 
Public Hearing:      October 4, 2022 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-041 

AN ORDINANCE TO TRANSFER A RIGHT-OF-WAY INTEREST IN REAL 
PROPERTY TO BIG WATER MARINA, LLC; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO.  

WHEREAS, the Anderson County code requires a public hearing prior to the sale of real 
property; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County previously accepted a portion of Big Water Road from the 
South Carolina Department of Transportation in Resolution No. R2020-016; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County has never utilized this property and has no current plan to 
utilize it; and  

 WHEREAS, the referenced right-of-way consists of a triangle shaped parcel that is 
approximately 0.06 acres in size.   

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 

1. Anderson County desires to transfer the following real property to Big Water Marina, 
LLC for a nominal fee: 

a. A triangular shaped parcel of right-of-way to be recombined with TMS 35-00-
02-015, as represented in Plat Slide 2910 at Page 9 recorded in the Office of the 
Anderson County Register of Deeds.  
 

2. All other terms, provisions, sections, and contents of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson 
County, South Carolina not specifically affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 
3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not 
affect the remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the public hearing and the third reading 

in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina. 
 
 

ORDAINED in a meeting duly assembled this 4th day of October 2022. 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 
 
 
 
 



ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
First Reading:          September 6, 2022 
Second Reading:     September 20, 2022 
Third Reading:        October 4, 2022 
Public Hearing:       October 4, 2022 
 



48759124 v4 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2022-037 

 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND GRAY INDUSTRIAL REALTY 7, LLC 
(FORMERLY KNOWN TO THE COUNTY AS “PROJECT LITTLE BROTHER”) 
WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY IN 
THE COUNTY, WHEREBY SUCH PROPERTY WILL BE SUBJECT TO 
CERTAIN PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES, INCLUDING THE PROVISION OF 
CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and 

through its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to 
the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park 
Act”), and Title 4, Chapter 29, of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into 
agreements with industry whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified 
projects; to provide infrastructure credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of 
investment in certain infrastructure enhancing the economic development of the County; through all such 
powers the industrial development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade 
developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus 
utilize and employ the manpower, products and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare 
of the County by providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided 
locally; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT Act, and in order to induce investment in the County, the 
County did previously enter into an Inducement Agreement dated as of August 16, 2022 (the “Inducement 
Agreement”) with Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC, a Kentucky limited liability company authorized to 
transact business in the State (the “Company”) (which was known to the County at the time as “Project 
Little Brother”), with respect to the acquisition, construction, and installation of land, buildings, 
improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real and/or tangible personal property 
to constitute a new industrial (light manufacturing and/or distribution) facility in the County (collectively, 
the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve an investment of 
approximately $30,000,000 in the County within the Initial Investment Period (as such term is defined in the 
hereinafter defined Fee Agreement); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 
Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act, and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent 
not already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park (the “Multi-County 
Park”) such that the Project will receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, the County has agreed to, among other 
things, (a) enter into a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement with the Company (the 
“Fee Agreement”), whereby the County would provide therein for a payment of a fee-in-lieu-of taxes 



2 
48759124 v4 

(“Negotiated FILOT Payments”) by the Company with respect to the Project, and (b) provide for certain 
special source credits to be claimed by the Company against its Negotiated FILOT Payments with respect to 
the Project pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form 
of the Fee Agreement which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it appears that the documents above referred to, which are now before this meeting, 
are in appropriate form and are an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or approved by the 
County for the purposes intended;   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 
 

Section 1. Based on information supplied by the Company, it is hereby found, determined and 
declared by the County Council, as follows: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” and “economic development property” as said terms 
are referred to and defined in the FILOT Act, and the County’s actions herein will subserve the purposes 
and in all respects conform to the provisions and requirements of the FILOT Act; 

(b) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

(c) The Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; 

(d) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation of 
jobs and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(e) The benefits of the Project are anticipated to be greater than the costs. 

Section 2. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement presented to this meeting are 
hereby approved and all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if 
the Fee Agreement was set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of County Council and/or the 
County Administrator are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver 
the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby 
authorized and directed to attest the same, and thereupon to cause the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the 
Company and cause a copy of the same to be delivered to the Anderson County Auditor, Assessor and 
Treasurer. The Fee Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby 
approved, or with such minor changes therein as shall be approved by the County Administrator, upon 
advice of counsel, his execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of his approval of any and all 
changes or revisions therein from the form of Fee Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 3. Revenues generated for the Multi-County Park from the Project through 
Negotiated FILOT Payments to be retained by the County under the agreement governing the Multi-County 
Park (“Net Park Fees”) shall be distributed within the County as follows: 

 (a) 15% of such Net Park Fees shall be deposited to the Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 
and used as required or permitted thereby;  



3 
48759124 v4 

 (b) 35% of such Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall be 
deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County; and 

 (c) remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entities in the County which 
levy an old ad valorem property tax in any areas comprising the County portion of the Multi-County Park in 
the same percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of 
operating and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes.  

Section 4. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to 
County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement and the performance of all obligations 
of the County thereunder. 

Section 5. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases and provisions hereunder. 

Section 6. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its 
passage by the County Council. 

 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this ___ day of ___________, 2022.  
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
        
Chairman of County Council 
 

 
Attest: 
 
 
      
County Administrator 
 
 
      
Clerk to County Council 
 
 
First Reading: August 16, 2022  
Second Reading: September 6, 2022  
Public Hearing: _______________  
Third Reading: September 20, 2022  
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 



4 
48759124 v4 

      
Leon C. Harmon 
County Attorney 



48759124 v4 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of August 16, 2022, September 9, 
2022, and September 20, 2022, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present 
and voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 ___________________________________________ 
 Clerk to County Council, 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Dated: __________, 2022 
 
 
 



 

48760041 v4 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 
 

Between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 

and 
 
 

GRAY INDUSTRIAL REALTY 7, LLC 
 
 
 

 
Dated as of __________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

i 
48760041 v4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01 DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................ 3 
SECTION 1.02 PROJECT-RELATED INVESTMENTS ........................................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 2.01 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COUNTY.................................................. 7 
SECTION 2.02 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COMPANY ............................................... 7 

ARTICLE III 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 

SECTION 3.01 THE PROJECT ........................................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.02 DILIGENT COMPLETION ........................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.03 FILINGS AND REPORTS ............................................................................................................................. 8 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

SECTION 4.01 FILOT PAYMENTS ................................................................................................................................. 10 
SECTION 4.02 SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS ..................................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 4.03 FAILURE TO ACHIEVE MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS............................................................. 12 
SECTION 4.04 REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT ...................................................................................................................... 12 
SECTION 4.05 FILOT PAYMENTS ON REPLACEMENT PROPERTY .................................................................................. 12 
SECTION 4.06 REDUCTIONS IN PAYMENT OF TAXES UPON DIMINUTION IN VALUE; INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE 

REQUIREMENT ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE V 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 5.01 CESSATION OF OPERATIONS ................................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 5.02 RIGHTS TO INSPECT ................................................................................................................................ 14 
SECTION 5.03 CONFIDENTIALITY ................................................................................................................................. 14 
SECTION 5.04 LIMITATION OF COUNTY’S LIABILITY .................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.05 MERGERS, REORGANIZATIONS AND EQUITY TRANSFERS....................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.06 INDEMNIFICATION COVENANTS ............................................................................................................. 15 
SECTION 5.07 QUALIFICATION IN STATE ...................................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.08 NO LIABILITY OF COUNTY’S PERSONNEL .............................................................................................. 16 
SECTION 5.09 ASSIGNMENT, LEASES OR TRANSFERS ................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.10 ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES ................................................................................................................. 17 
SECTION 5.11 PRIORITY LIEN STATUS .......................................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.12 INTEREST; PENALTIES ............................................................................................................................ 17 
SECTION 5.13 SPONSOR AFFILIATES ............................................................................................................................. 18 



 

ii 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE VI 

DEFAULT 

SECTION 6.01 EVENTS OF DEFAULT ............................................................................................................................. 19 
SECTION 6.02 REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT .................................................................................................................... 19 
SECTION 6.03 REIMBURSEMENT OF LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES ............................................ 20 
SECTION 6.04 NO WAIVER ........................................................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 7.01 NOTICES ................................................................................................................................................. 21 
SECTION 7.02 BINDING EFFECT .................................................................................................................................... 21 
SECTION 7.03 COUNTERPARTS ..................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.04 GOVERNING LAW ................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.05 HEADINGS .............................................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.06 AMENDMENTS ........................................................................................................................................ 22 
SECTION 7.07 FURTHER ASSURANCE ........................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.08 INVALIDITY; CHANGE IN LAWS .............................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.09 TERMINATION BY COMPANY .................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.10 ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING ...................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.11 WAIVER ................................................................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.12 BUSINESS DAY ....................................................................................................................................... 23 
 
EXHIBIT A – DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
EXHIBIT B – INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
EXHIBIT C – INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 



 

iii 
48760041 v4 

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 

 
 

As permitted under Section 12-44-55(B), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the 
“Code”), the parties have agreed to waive the requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the Code.  The 
following is a summary of the key provisions of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit 
Agreement.  This summary is inserted for convenience only and does not constitute a part of this Fee in 
Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement or a summary compliant with Section 12-44-55 of the 
Code.  
 
 

Company Name: Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC Project Name: Project Little Brother 
Projected Investment: $30,000,000 Projected Jobs: n/a 
Location (street): 1810 Easley Highway 

Piedmont, SC 29669 
Tax Map Nos.: Formerly 

193-00-15-005 
193-00-11-015 
193-00-11-009 
193-00-11-004 
 
Recombined (2022) 
193-00-11-015 

    
1. FILOT    
 Required Investment: $30,000,000   
 Investment Period: 5 years; possible 5 year extension* Ordinance No./Date: [TO COME] 
 Assessment Ratio: 6% Term (years): 30 years 
 Fixed Millage: 332.07 

 
Net Present Value (if 
yes, discount rate): 

 
n/a 

 Clawback information: Full prospective and retroactive clawback of the FILOT benefit if Company and all 
sponsor affiliates fail to invest at least $30,000,000 in the Project during the initial five 
year investment period.  
 
 

2. MCIP  
 Included in an MCIP: Yes 
 If yes, Name & Date: Anderson/Greenville 2010 Park 
  
3. SSRC  
 Total Amount: 85% for the first five FILOT payments, and 35% for the next 25 FILOT payments. 
 No. of Years 30 years total 
    Yearly Increments: See above. 
 Clawback information: Full prospective and retroactive clawback of the SSRC benefit if Company and all 

sponsor affiliates fail to invest at least $30,000,000 in the Project during the initial five 
year investment period. 
 
 

4. Other information *If the Company and all sponsor affiliates invest at least $30,000,000 in the Project during 
the initial five year investment period, the investment period will automatically be 
extended for an additional five years.  
 
 

 
 



 

48760041 v4 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT (the “Fee 
Agreement”) is made and entered into as of September 20, 2022 by and between ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State 
of South Carolina (the “State”), acting by and through the Anderson County Council (the “County 
Council”) as the governing body of the County, and GRAY INDUSTRIAL REALTY 7, LLC, a limited 
liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Kentucky and authorized to transact 
business in the State (the “Company”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

1. Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended (the “Code”), authorizes the County to (a) induce industries to locate in the State; (b) encourage 
industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and employ manpower, 
products, and other resources of the State; and (c) enter into a fee agreement with entities meeting the 
requirements of the FILOT Act, which identifies certain property of such entities as economic development 
property and provides for the payment of a fee in lieu of tax with respect to such property. 

2. Sections 4-1-170 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide special source 
revenue credit (“Special Source Revenue Credit”) financing secured by and payable solely from revenues 
of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes for the purposes set forth in Section 4-29-68 of the 
Code, namely:  the defraying of the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the 
infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, 
including but not limited to machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County (collectively, 
“Infrastructure”). 

3. The Company (as a Sponsor, within the meaning of the FILOT Act) desires to provide for 
the acquisition and construction of the Project (as defined herein) to constitute a new industrial (light 
manufacturing and/or distribution) facility in the County. 

4. Based on information supplied by the Company, the County Council has evaluated the 
Project based on relevant criteria that include, but are not limited to, the purposes the Project is to 
accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created or 
maintained, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. Pursuant to Section 12-44-40(H)(1) of the 
FILOT Act, the County finds that: (a) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately 
provided locally; (b) the Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality therein and to no charge against their general credit or taxing powers; (c) the purposes to be 
accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (d) the benefits of the 
Project are greater than the costs. 

5. The Project is located, or if not so located as of the date of this Fee Agreement the County 
intends to use its best efforts to so locate the Project, in a joint county industrial or business park created 
with an adjoining county in the State pursuant to agreement entered into pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of the 
Code and Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution. 

6. By enactment of an Ordinance on September 20, 2022, the County Council has authorized 
the County to enter into this Fee Agreement with the Company which classifies the Project as Economic 
Development Property under the FILOT Act and provides for the payment of fees in lieu of taxes and the 



 

2 
48760041 v4 

provision of Special Source Revenue Credits to reimburse the Company for payment of the cost of certain 
Infrastructure in connection with the Project, all as further described herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 



 

3 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Section 1.01  Definitions 
 

The terms that this Article defines shall for all purposes of this Fee Agreement have the meanings 
herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 
 
 “Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by the 
County with respect to this Fee Agreement, including without limitation reasonable attorney fees; 
provided, however, that no such expense shall be considered an Administration Expense until the County 
has furnished to the Company a statement in writing indicating the amount of such expense and the 
reason it has been or will be incurred. 
 
 “Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity 
which owns all or part of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate) or 
which is owned in whole or in part by the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor 
Affiliate) or by any partner, shareholder or owner of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, 
such Sponsor Affiliate), as well as any subsidiary, affiliate, individual or entity who bears a relationship 
to the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate), as described in Section 
267(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
 “Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended.   
 

“Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which the Project 
or the first Phase thereof is placed in service, which date shall not be later than the last day of the property 
tax year which is three (3) years from the year in which the County and the Company enter into this Fee 
Agreement. 

“Company” shall mean Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC, a Kentucky limited liability company 
authorized to transact business in the State, and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any 
merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any other person or entity which may succeed to the rights 
and duties of the Company. 

 “Condemnation Event” shall mean any act of taking by a public or quasi-public authority 
through condemnation, reverse condemnation or eminent domain. 
 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, 
investment by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates of at least $30,000,000 in Economic 
Development Property subject (non-exempt) to ad valorem taxation (in the absence of this Fee 
Agreement). 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as 
the governing body of the County. 

“County Administrator” shall mean the Anderson County Administrator, or the person holding 
any successor office of the County. 



 

4 
48760041 v4 

“County Assessor” shall mean the Anderson County Assessor, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“County Auditor” shall mean the Anderson County Auditor, or the person holding any successor 
office of the County. 

“County Council” shall mean Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“County Treasurer” shall mean the Anderson County Treasurer, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“Defaulting Entity” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 6.02(a) hereof. 

“Deficiency Amount” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 4.03(a) hereof. 

“Department” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” in respect of the Project shall mean any reduction in the value, using the 
original fair market value (without regard to depreciation) as determined in Step 1 of Section 4.01 of this 
Fee Agreement, of the items which constitute a part of the Project and which are subject to FILOT 
Payments which may be caused by the Company’s or any Sponsor Affiliate’s removal and/or disposal of 
equipment pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof, or by its election to remove components of the Project as a 
result of any damage or destruction or any Condemnation Event with respect thereto. 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean those items of real and tangible personal property 
of the Project which are eligible for inclusion as economic development property under the FILOT Act 
and this Fee Agreement, and selected and identified by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its 
annual filing of a SCDOR PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be 
amended from time to time) for each year within the Investment Period. 

“Equipment” shall mean machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and other tangible 
personal property, together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions thereto 
or therefor. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any event of default specified in Section 6.01 hereof. 

“Exemption Period” shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the property tax year 
after the property tax year in which an applicable portion of Economic Development Property is placed in 
service and ending on the Termination Date.  In case there are Phases of the Project, the Exemption 
Period applies to each year’s investment made during the Investment Period. 

“Extended Investment Period” shall mean, if the Company and all Sponsor Affiliates satisfy the 
Contract Minimum Investment Requirement during the Initial Investment Period, the period beginning 
with the first following the expiration of the Initial Investment Period and ending five (5) years thereafter.   

“Fee Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement. 

“FILOT” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem 
property taxes as provided herein. 



 

5 
48760041 v4 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, an 
investment of at least $2,500,000 by the Company, or of at least $5,000,000 by the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates in the aggregate, in Economic Development Property. 

“Improvements” shall mean improvements to the Land, including buildings, building additions, 
roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with any and all additions, fixtures, accessions, 
replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, 
within the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Initial Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day of any purchase or 
acquisition of Economic Development Property and ending five (5) years after the Commencement Date. 

“Investment Period” shall mean, and shall be equal to, the Initial Investment Period and, if 
applicable, the Extended Investment Period, collectively. 

“Land” means the land upon which the Project will be located, as described in Exhibit A attached 
hereto, as Exhibit A may be supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section 3.01(c) hereof. 

“MCIP” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the 
MCIP Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement 
delivered by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the MCIP Act, or any 
successor provision, with respect to the Project. 

“MCIP Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“MCIP Agreement” shall mean the multi-county park agreement dated as of December 1, 2010, 
as amended, between the County and Greenville County, South Carolina, as the same may be further 
amended or supplemented from time to time, or such other agreement as the County may enter with 
respect to the Project to offer the benefits of the Special Source Revenue Credits to the Company 
hereunder. 

 “Phase” or “Phases” in respect of the Project shall mean that the components of the Project are 
placed in service during more than one year during the Investment Period, and the word “Phase” shall 
therefore refer to the applicable portion of the Project placed in service in a given year during the 
Investment Period. 

“Project” shall mean the Land and all the Equipment and Improvements that the Company 
determines to be necessary, suitable or useful for the purposes described in Section 2.02(b) hereof, to the 
extent determined by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate to be a part of the Project and placed in 
service during the Investment Period, and any Replacement Property.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Project shall not include property which will not qualify for the 
FILOT pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the FILOT Act, including without limitation property which has 
been subject to ad valorem taxation in the State prior to commencement of the Investment Period; 
provided, however, the Project may include (a) modifications which constitute an expansion of the real 



 

6 
48760041 v4 

property portion of the Project and (b) the property allowed pursuant to Section 12-44-110(2) of the 
FILOT Act. 

“Removed Components” shall mean components of the Project or portions thereof which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its sole discretion, elects to remove from the Project pursuant to 
Section 4.04 hereof or as a result of any Condemnation Event. 

“Replacement Property” shall mean any property which is placed in service as a replacement for 
any item of Equipment or any Improvement previously subject to this Fee Agreement regardless of 
whether such property serves the same functions as the property it is replacing and regardless of whether 
more than one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment or any Improvement to the fullest extent 
that the FILOT Act permits. 

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the annual special source credits provided to the Company 
pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof.   

“Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity that joins with the Company and that participates in the 
investment in, or financing of, the Project and which meets the requirements under the FILOT Act to be 
entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its participation in the Project, all as set forth 
in Section 5.13 hereof. 

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Termination Date” shall mean, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the end of the last day 
of the property tax year which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which such Phase of 
the Project is placed in service; provided, that the intention of the parties is that the Company will make at 
least 30 annual FILOT Payments under Article IV hereof with respect to each Phase of the Project; and 
provided further, that if this Fee Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance with the terms hereof, the 
Termination Date shall mean the date of such termination. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act, as 
amended or supplemented from time to time, concerning, among other things, the necessity of obtaining 
County consent to certain transfers. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 
document. 

Section 1.02  Project-Related Investments 
 
 The term “investment” or “invest” as used herein shall include not only investments made by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments 
made by or for the benefit of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate with respect to the Project through 
federal, state, or local grants, to the extent such investments are subject to ad valorem taxes or FILOT 
Payments by the Company. 

 
[End of Article I] 



 

7 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 2.01  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County 
 
 The County hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and 
acts through the County Council as its governing body. The County has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Fee Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein or therein and has 
obtained all consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its 
obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based upon representations by the Company, the Project constitutes a “project” within 
the meaning of the FILOT Act. 

(c) The County has agreed that each item of real and tangible personal property comprising 
the Project which is eligible to be economic development property under the FILOT Act and that the 
Company selects shall be considered Economic Development Property and is thereby exempt from ad 
valorem taxation in the State. 

(d) The millage rate set forth in Step 3 of Section 4.01(a) hereof is 332.07 mills, which is the 
millage rate in effect with respect to the location of the proposed Project as of June 30, 2022, as permitted 
under Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(d) of the FILOT Act. 

(e) The County will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Project to be located in a 
MCIP for a term extending at least until the end of the period of FILOT Payments against which a Special 
Source Credit is to be provided under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.02  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Company 
 

The Company hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company is organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of [TO 
COME], is duly authorized to transact business in the State, has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, 
and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the 
FILOT Act as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to lease the Project to an operating 
tenant for light manufacturing and/or distribution use, and for such other purposes that the FILOT Act 
permits as the Company may deem appropriate. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County has been instrumental in 
inducing the Company to locate the Project in the County. 

(d) The Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, will use commercially reasonable 
efforts to meet, or cause to be met the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period. 

[End of Article II] 



 

8 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE III 
 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 
 
Section 3.01  The Project 
 

(a) The Company intends and expects, together with any Sponsor Affiliate, to (i) construct 
and acquire the Project and meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Initial 
Investment Period. The Company anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in service 
during the calendar year ending December 31, 2023. 

(b) Pursuant to the FILOT Act and subject to Section 4.03 hereof, the Company and the 
County hereby agree that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall identify annually those assets 
which are eligible for FILOT Payments under the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement, and which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate selects for such treatment by listing such assets in its annual PT-300S 
form (or comparable form) to be filed with the Department (as such may be amended from time to time) 
and that by listing such assets, such assets shall automatically become Economic Development Property 
and therefore be exempt from all ad valorem taxation during the Exemption Period. Anything contained 
in this Fee Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall not 
be obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project. However, if the Company, together with any 
Sponsor Affiliates, does not meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Initial 
Investment Period, the provisions of Section 4.03 hereof shall control. 

(c) The Company may add to the Land such real property, located in the same taxing District 
in the County as the original Land, as the Company, in its discretion, deems useful or desirable. In such 
event, the Company, at its expense, shall deliver an appropriately revised Exhibit A to this Fee 
Agreement, in form reasonably acceptable to the County. 

Section 3.02  Diligent Completion 
 

The Company agrees to use its reasonable efforts to cause the completion of the Project as soon 
as practicable, but in any event on or prior to the end of the Investment Period. 

Section 3.03  Filings and Reports 
 

(a) Each year during the term of the Fee Agreement, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates shall deliver to the County, the County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County Treasurer 
a copy of their most recent annual filings with the Department with respect to the Project, not later than 
thirty (30) days following delivery thereof to the Department. 

(b) The Company shall cause a copy of this Fee Agreement, as well as a copy of the 
completed Form PT-443 of the Department, to be filed with the County Auditor and the County Assessor, 
and to their counterparts in the partner county to the MCIP Agreement, the County Administrator and the 
Department within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by all 
parties hereto. 

(c) Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree to maintain complete books and 
records accounting for the acquisition, financing, construction, and operation of the Project.  Such books 
and records shall (i) permit ready identification of the various Phases and components thereof; (ii) 
confirm the dates on which each Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made 



 

9 
48760041 v4 

by the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates in accordance with Section 3.03(a) or (b) above with 
respect to property placed in service as part of the Project. 

[End of Article III] 



 

10 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE IV 
 

FILOT PAYMENTS 
 
Section 4.01  FILOT Payments 
 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the FILOT Act, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates, as applicable, are required to make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes to the County with 
respect to the Economic Development Property. Inasmuch as the Company anticipates an initial 
investment of sums sufficient for the Project to qualify for a fee in lieu of tax arrangement under Section 
12-44-50(A)(1) of the FILOT Act, the County and the Company have negotiated the amount of the 
FILOT Payments in accordance therewith. The Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes on all Economic Development Property which comprises the 
Project and is placed in service, as follows: the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes during the Exemption Period with respect to the Economic 
Development Property or, if there are Phases of the Economic Development Property, with respect to 
each Phase of the Economic Development Property, said payments to be made annually and to be due and 
payable and subject to penalty assessments on the same dates and in the same manner as prescribed by the 
County for ad valorem taxes. The determination of the amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be 
in accordance with the following procedure (subject, in any event, to the procedures required by the 
FILOT Act): 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or Phase of the 
Economic Development Property) placed in service during the Exemption Period using original income 
tax basis for State income tax purposes for any real property and Improvements without regard to 
depreciation (provided, the fair market value of real property, as the FILOT Act defines such term, that 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates obtains by construction or purchase in an arms-length 
transaction is equal to the original income tax basis, and otherwise, the determination of the fair market 
value is by appraisal) and original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for any personal 
property less depreciation for each year allowable for property tax purposes, except that no extraordinary 
obsolescence shall be allowable.  The fair market value of the real property for the first year of the 
Exemption Period remains the fair market value of the real property and Improvements for the life of the 
Exemption Period.  The determination of these values shall take into account all applicable property tax 
exemptions that State law would allow to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates if the property were 
taxable, except those exemptions that Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the FILOT Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of six percent (6%) to the fair market value in Step 1 to 
establish the taxable value of the Economic Development Property (or each Phase of the Economic 
Development Property) in the year it is placed in service and in each of the 29 years thereafter or such 
longer period of years in which the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement permit the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates to make annual FILOT Payments. 

Step 3: Use a millage rate of 332.07 mills during the Exemption Period against the taxable value 
to determine the amount of the FILOT Payments due during the Exemption Period on the applicable 
payment dates. 



 

11 
48760041 v4 

(b) In the event that a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further 
appeal is allowable declares the FILOT Act and/or the herein-described FILOT Payments invalid or 
unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions to reform such 
payments so as to effectuate most closely the intent thereof (without increasing the amount of incentives 
being afforded herein) and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits to be 
derived herefrom, the intention of the County being to offer the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates a 
strong inducement to locate the Project in the County.  If the Economic Development Property is deemed 
to be subject to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, but with 
appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions which are afforded to the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates.  Any amount determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company and 
such Sponsor Affiliates, with respect to a year or years for which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates 
previously remitted FILOT Payments to the County hereunder, shall (i) take into account all applicable 
tax exemptions to which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled if the Economic 
Development Property was not and had not been Economic Development Property under the Act; and 
(ii) be reduced by the total amount of FILOT Payments the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates had 
made with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms hereof.  

Section 4.02  Special Source Credits 
 

(a) In accordance with and pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of the FILOT Act and Section 4-1-
175 of the MCIP Act, in order to reimburse the Company for qualifying capital expenditures incurred for 
costs of the Infrastructure during the Investment Period, the Company shall be entitled to receive, and the 
County agrees to provide, annual Special Source Credits against the Company’s first five (5) consecutive 
FILOT Payments in an amount equal to eighty-five percent (85%), and the Company’s next twenty-five (25) 
consecutive FILOT Payments thereafter in an amount equal to thirty-five percent (35%), of that portion of 
FILOT Payments payable by the Company with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment 
made by the Company in the Project during the Investment Period), calculated and applied after payment of 
the amount due the non-host county under the MCIP Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken. 

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the 
Company exceed the amount expended with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The Company 
shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the provisions of the 
preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
C.  

(d) Should the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement not be met by the end of the 
Initial Investment Period, any Special Source Credits otherwise payable under this Fee Agreement shall 
no longer be payable by the County, and the Company shall be retroactively liable to the County for the 
amount of the Special Source Credits previously received by the Company, plus interest at the rate 
payable for late payment of taxes. Any amounts determined to be owing pursuant to the foregoing 
sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the one hundred twentieth (120th) day following the 
last day of the Initial Investment Period. 

(e) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Fee Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), 



 

12 
48760041 v4 

the amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property 
was removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal. 

(f) Each annual Special Source Credit shall be reflected by the County Auditor or other 
authorized County official or representative on each bill for FILOT Payments sent to the Company by the 
County for each applicable property tax year, by reducing such FILOT Payments otherwise due by the 
amount of the Special Source Credit to be provided to the Company for such property tax year. 

(g) The Special Source Credits are payable solely from the FILOT Payments, are not secured 
by, or in any way entitled to, a pledge of the full faith, credit or taxing power of the County, are not an 
indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any State constitutional provision or statutory 
limitation, are payable solely from a special source that does not include revenues from any tax or license, 
and are not a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the 
County. 

Section 4.03  Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment Requirement 
 

(a) In the event the Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, fails to meet the Contract 
Minimum Investment Requirement by the end of the Initial Investment Period, this Fee Agreement shall 
terminate and the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County an amount which is equal to 
the excess, if any, of (i) the total amount of ad valorem taxes as would result from taxes levied on the 
Project by the County, municipality or municipalities, school district or school districts, and other 
political units as if the items of property comprising the Economic Development Property were not 
Economic Development Property, but with appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions and 
abatements to which the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled in such a case, through 
and including the end of the Initial Investment Period, over (ii) the total amount of FILOT Payments the 
Company and such Sponsor Affiliates have made with respect to the Economic Development Property 
(after taking into account any Special Source Credits received) (such excess, a “Deficiency Amount”) for 
the period through and including the end of the Initial Investment Period. Any amounts determined to be 
owing pursuant to the foregoing sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the one hundred 
twentieth (120th) day following the last day of the Initial Investment Period.   

 (b)  As a condition to the FILOT benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to provide the 
County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County Treasurer with an annual 
certification as to investment in the Project. Such certification shall be in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be due no later than the May 1 following the immediately preceding 
December 31 of each year during the Investment Period. 

Section 4.04  Removal of Equipment 
 

Subject, always, to the other terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project from the Project 
in its sole discretion with the result that said components shall no longer be considered a part of the 
Project and, to the extent such constitute Economic Development Property, shall no longer be subject to 
the terms of this Fee Agreement.  Economic Development Property is disposed of only when it is 
scrapped or sold or removed from the Project. If it is removed from the Project, it is subject to ad valorem 
property taxes to the extent the Property remains in the State and is otherwise subject to ad valorem 
property taxes. 

Section 4.05  FILOT Payments on Replacement Property 
 



 

13 
48760041 v4 

If the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate elects to replace any Removed Components and to 
substitute such Removed Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Economic 
Development Property, or the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate otherwise utilizes Replacement 
Property, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act, the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall make statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard 
to such Replacement Property in accordance with the following: 

(i) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the 
Economic Development Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is deemed to replace the 
oldest Economic Development Property subject to the FILOT, whether real or personal, which is 
disposed of in the same property tax year in which the Replacement Property is placed in service.  
Replacement Property qualifies as Economic Development Property only to the extent of the 
original income tax basis of Economic Development Property which is being disposed of in the 
same property tax year.  More than one piece of property can replace a single piece of Economic 
Development Property.  To the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 
exceeds the original income tax basis of the Economic Development Property which it is 
replacing, the excess amount is subject to annual payments calculated as if the exemption for 
Economic Development Property were not allowable.  Replacement Property is entitled to 
treatment under the Fee Agreement for the period of time remaining during the Exemption Period 
for the Economic Development Property which it is replacing; and 

(ii) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the FILOT shall be 
recorded using its income tax basis, and the calculation of the FILOT shall utilize the millage rate 
and assessment ratio in effect with regard to the original property subject to the FILOT. 

Section 4.06  Reductions in Payment of Taxes Upon Diminution in Value; Investment Maintenance 
Requirement 

 
In the event of a Diminution in Value of the Economic Development Property, the FILOT 

Payment in Lieu of Taxes with regard to the Economic Development Property shall be reduced in the 
same proportion as the amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of the 
Economic Development Property as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 4.01(a) hereof; provided, 
however, that if at any time subsequent to the end of the Investment Period, the total value of the Project 
remaining in the County based on the original income tax basis thereof (that is, without regard to 
depreciation), is less than the FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement, then beginning with the 
first payment thereafter due hereunder and continuing until the Termination Date, the Project shall no 
longer be entitled to the incentive provided in Section 4.01, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate 
shall therefore commence to pay regular ad valorem taxes thereon, calculated as set forth in Section 
4.01(b) hereof.   

[End of Article IV] 



 

14 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE V 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 5.01  Cessation of Operations 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Fee Agreement, each of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT incentive may 
end, and this Fee Agreement may be terminated by the County, at the County’s sole discretion, if the 
Company ceases operations at the Project; provided, however, that the Special Source Credits provided 
for in this Fee Agreement shall automatically terminate if the Company ceases operations as set forth in 
this Section 5.01.  For purposes of this Section, “ceases operations” means, following the initial 
occupancy and commencement of use of the facility by an end user or tenant in the operation of its 
business, the closure of the facility or the cessation of production and shipment of products to customers 
for a continuous period of twenty-four (24) months.  The County acknowledges that it is the Company’s 
intent to lease the facility to be constructed in connection with the Project to a tenant that has not been 
identified as of the date of this Fee Agreement, and agrees that the lack of operations at the facility while 
it is initially being marketed for lease, even if such initial marketing period shall exceed twenty-four (24) 
months, shall not be deemed a “cessation of operations” hereunder. The provisions of Section 4.03 hereof 
relating to retroactive payments shall apply, if applicable, if this Fee Agreement is terminated in 
accordance with this Section prior to the end of the Initial Investment Period.  Each of the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates agrees that if this Fee Agreement is terminated pursuant to this subsection, that 
under no circumstance shall the County be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 5.02  Rights to Inspect 
 

The Company agrees that the County and its authorized agents shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and examine and inspect the Project. The 
County and its authorized agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times and upon prior reasonable 
notice, to have access to examine and inspect the Company’s South Carolina property tax returns, as filed. 
The aforesaid rights of examination and inspection shall be exercised only upon such reasonable and 
necessary terms and conditions as the Company shall prescribe, and shall be subject to the provisions of 
Section 5.03 hereof. 

Section 5.03  Confidentiality 
 

The County acknowledges and understands that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may 
utilize confidential and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and 
techniques (herein “Confidential Information”). In this regard, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County “Confidential Information.”  The 
County agrees that, except as required by law, neither the County nor any employee, agent, or contractor 
of the County shall disclose or otherwise divulge any such clearly labeled Confidential Information to any 
other person, firm, governmental body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so 
by law.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledge that the County is subject to the 
South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and 
information on request, absent an exemption. In the event that the County is required to disclose any 
Confidential Information obtained from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates to any third party, the 
County agrees to provide the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates with as much advance notice as is 
reasonably possible of such requirement before making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with 



 

15 
48760041 v4 

any attempts by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates to obtain judicial or other relief from such 
disclosure requirement. 

Section 5.04  Limitation of County’s Liability 
 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any financial obligation the County may incur 
hereunder, including for the payment of money, shall not be deemed to constitute a pecuniary liability or 
a debt or general obligation of the County (it being intended herein that any obligations of the County 
with respect to the Special Source Revenue Credits shall be payable only from FILOT Payments received 
from or payable by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates); provided, however, that nothing herein shall 
prevent the Company from enforcing its rights hereunder by suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

Section 5.05  Mergers, Reorganizations and Equity Transfers 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that any mergers, reorganizations 
or consolidations of the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates may cause the Project to become ineligible 
for negotiated fees in lieu of taxes under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions; provided that, to the extent provided by Section 12-44-
120 of the FILOT Act or any successor provision, any financing arrangements entered into by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates with respect to the Project and any security interests granted by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates in connection therewith shall not be construed as a transfer for 
purposes of the Transfer Provisions.  Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, it 
is not intended in this Fee Agreement that the County shall impose transfer restrictions with respect to the 
Company, any Sponsor Affiliates or the Project as are any more restrictive than the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 5.06  Indemnification Covenants 
 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Fee Agreement or in any other agreements 
with the County, the Company agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County, its County Council 
members, elected officials, officers, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 
Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising 
from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project or the Land by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, their members, officers, shareholders, employees, servants, 
contractors, and agents during the term of this Fee Agreement, and, the Company further, shall indemnify, 
defend and save the Indemnified Parties harmless against and from all claims arising during the term of 
this Fee Agreement from (i) entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (ii) 
any condition of the Project, (iii) any breach or default on the part of the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate in the performance of any of its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (iv) any act of negligence 
of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, (v) 
any act of negligence of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or of any agents, 
contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, or (vi) any environmental violation, condition, or effect with respect to the Project.  The 
Company shall indemnify, defend and save the County harmless from and against all costs and expenses 
incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with any action or 
proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from the County, the Company shall defend it in any such 
action, prosecution or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld). 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties 
shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Fee Agreement, or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the FILOT, by reason of the execution of 



 

16 
48760041 v4 

this Fee Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the 
Project by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in 
connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the 
County or any of the other Indemnified Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such 
event the Company shall indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of 
any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection 
with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the 
Company shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County 
(the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall 
not apply to the extent that any such claim is attributable to (i) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or 
willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this Fee 
Agreement by the County. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party 
resulting from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, shall survive any termination of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 5.07  Qualification in State 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates warrant that it is duly qualified to do business in 
the State, and covenants that it will continue to be so qualified so long as it operates any portion of the 
Project. 

Section 5.08  No Liability of County’s Personnel 
 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County contained herein 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County and 
shall be binding upon any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or 
employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and 
no recourse shall be had for the payment of any moneys hereunder against any member of the governing 
body of the County or any elected official, officer, agent, servants or employee of the County and no 
recourse shall be had against any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, 
servant or employee of the County for the performance of any of the covenants and agreements of the 
County herein contained or for any claims based thereon except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 5.09  Assignment, Leases or Transfers 
 

The County agrees that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may at any time (a) transfer all 
or any of their rights and interests under this Fee Agreement or with respect to all or any part of the 
Project, or (b) enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar arrangement or succession of 
such arrangements with any financing or other entity with respect to this Fee Agreement or all or any part 
of the Project, including without limitation any sale-leaseback, equipment lease, build-to-suit lease, 
synthetic lease, nordic lease, defeased tax benefit or transfer lease, assignment, sublease or similar 
arrangement or succession of such arrangements, regardless of the identity of the income tax owner of 
such portion of the Project, whereby the transferee in any such arrangement leases the portion of the 
Project in question to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate or is leasing the portion of the Project in question from the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate.  In order to preserve the FILOT benefit afforded hereunder with respect to any portion 
of the Project so transferred, leased, financed, or otherwise affected: (i) except in connection with any 



 

17 
48760041 v4 

transfer to an Affiliate of the Company or of any Sponsor Affiliate, or transfers, leases, or financing 
arrangements pursuant to clause (b) above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall obtain the prior consent or subsequent 
ratification of the County which consent or subsequent ratification may be granted by the County in its 
sole discretion; (ii) except when a financing entity which is the income tax owner of all or part of the 
Project is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) above and such financing entity assumes in writing the 
obligations of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, hereunder, or when the County 
consents in writing, no such transfer shall affect or reduce any of the obligations of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates hereunder; (iii) to the extent the transferee or financing entity shall become obligated 
to make FILOT Payments hereunder, the transferee shall assume the then current basis of, as the case may 
be, the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates (or prior transferee) in the portion of the Project transferred; 
(iv) the Company or applicable Sponsor Affiliate, transferee or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) 
days thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the County and the Department a true and complete copy 
of any such transfer agreement; and (v) the Company, the Sponsor Affiliates and the transferee shall 
comply with all other requirements of the Transfer Provisions. 

Subject to County consent when required under this Section, and at the expense of the Company 
or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, the County agrees to take such further action or execute such 
further agreements, documents, and instruments as may be reasonably required to effectuate the 
assumption by any such transferee of all or part of the rights of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
under this Fee Agreement and/or any release of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this 
Section.   

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that such a transfer of an interest 
under this Fee Agreement or in the Project may cause all or part of the Project to become ineligible for the 
FILOT benefit afforded hereunder or result in penalties under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions.   

Section 5.10  Administration Expenses 
 

The Company agrees to pay any Administration Expenses to the County when and as they shall 
become due, but in no event later than the date which is the earlier of any payment date expressly 
provided for in this Fee Agreement or the date which is forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice 
from the County, accompanied by such supporting documentation as may be necessary to evidence the 
County’s or Indemnified Party’s right to receive such payment, specifying the nature of such expense and 
requesting payment of same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be required to pay 
Administration Expenses (including attorneys’ fees of the County) in excess of $5,000 for the initial 
negotiation, review and approval of this Fee Agreement and related documents.   

Section 5.11  Priority Lien Status 
 

The County’s right to receive FILOT Payments hereunder shall have a first priority lien status 
pursuant to Sections 12-44-90(E) and (F) of the FILOT Act and Chapters 4, 49, 51, 53, and 54 of Title 12 
of the Code. 

Section 5.12  Interest; Penalties 
 

In the event the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments to the 
County required under this Fee Agreement, then the item or installment so in default shall continue as an 
obligation of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate until the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall 
have fully paid the amount, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree, as applicable, to pay the 



 

18 
48760041 v4 

same with interest thereon at a rate, unless expressly provided otherwise herein and in the case of FILOT 
Payments, of 5% per annum, compounded monthly, to accrue from the date on which the payment was 
due and, in the case of FILOT Payments, at the rate for non-payment of ad valorem taxes under State law 
and subject to the penalties the law provides until payment. 
 
Section 5.13  Sponsor Affiliates 
 

The Company may designate from time to time any Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 12-44-30(20) and 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsor Affiliates shall join with the 
Company and make investments with respect to the Project, or participate in the financing of such 
investments, and shall agree to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement pursuant to 
the terms of a written joinder agreement with the County and the Company, in form reasonably 
acceptable to the County.  The Company shall provide the County and the Department with written notice 
of any Sponsor Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section within ninety (90) days after the end of the 
calendar year during which any such Sponsor Affiliate has placed in service any portion of the Project, in 
accordance with Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT Act. 
 

[End of Article V] 



 

19 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE VI 
 

DEFAULT 
 
Section 6.01  Events of Default 
 

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement, and the term “Event of 
Default” shall mean, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, any one or more of the 
following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to make the FILOT Payments described 
in Section 4.01 hereof, or any other amounts payable to the County under this Fee Agreement when due, 
which failure shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice thereof 
from the County; provided, however, that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to all 
redemption rights granted by applicable statutes; or 

(b) A representation or warranty made by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate hereunder 
which is deemed materially incorrect when deemed made; or  

(c) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to perform any of the terms, conditions, 
obligations, or covenants hereunder (other than those under (a) above), which failure shall continue for a 
period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the County to the Company and such Sponsor Affiliate 
specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is diligently pursuing such action until 
the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be extended to cover such additional period 
during which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate is diligently pursuing corrective action; or 

(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 
hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the 
Company to the County and any Sponsor Affiliates specifying such failure and requesting that it be 
remedied, unless the County shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is 
diligently pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be 
extended to cover such additional period during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action. 
 
Section 6.02  Remedies Upon Default 
 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate (the 
“Defaulting Entity”) shall have occurred and shall be continuing, the County may take any one or more of 
the following remedial actions as to the Defaulting Entity, only: 

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 
 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to 
collect the amounts due hereunder.   

In no event shall the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be liable to the County or otherwise for 
monetary damages resulting from the Company’s (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) failure to meet 
the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement other than as expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement. 

 In addition to all other remedies provided herein, the failure to make FILOT Payments shall give 
rise to a lien for tax purposes as provided in Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act.  In this regard, and 



 

20 
48760041 v4 

notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the County may exercise the remedies 
that general law (including Title 12, Chapter 49 of the Code) provides with regard to the enforced 
collection of ad valorem taxes to collect any FILOT Payments due hereunder. 

(b) Whenever any Event of Default by the County shall have occurred or shall be continuing, 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate may take one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 
 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement as to the acting party; or 
 

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 
appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 6.03  Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Expenses and Other Expenses 
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, 
should the County be required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection of 
payments due hereunder or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or 
agreement, the County shall be entitled, within thirty (30) days of demand therefor, to reimbursement of 
the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred.   

Section 6.04  No Waiver 
 

No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, 
power, or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, 
or remedy hereunder. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless the same shall be in 
writing and signed by the waiving party hereto. 
 

[End of Article VI] 



 

21 
48760041 v4 

ARTICLE VII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 7.01  Notices 
 

Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be provided under this Fee 
Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited with the United 
States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or 
addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), 
except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such 
provision shall control: 

 
If to the Company: 
 
Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC 
c/o Gray Industrial Realty, LLC 
Attn:  Curt Hargrove, President 
9200 Shelbyville Road, Suite 606 
Louisville, KY 40222 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Burr & Forman LLP 
Attn: Brandon T. Norris, Esq. 
104 South Main Street, Suite 700 
Greenville, SC 29601 
 
If to the County: 
 

 Anderson County 
Attn:  County Administrator 
101 South Main Street 
Anderson, SC 29622 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Anderson County Attorney 

 Mr. Leon Harmon, Esq. 
101 South Main Street 
Anderson, SC 29622 

 
 
Section 7.02  Binding Effect 
 

This Fee Agreement and each document contemplated hereby or related hereto shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County, and their respective 
successors and assigns.  In the event of the dissolution of the County or the consolidation of any part of 
the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of the County to any other 
such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements of this Fee 
Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any 



 

22 
48760041 v4 

entity, officer, board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of 
the County has been transferred. 

Section 7.03  Counterparts 
 

This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and all of the counterparts 
taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 7.04  Governing Law 
 

This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection herewith shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 7.05  Headings 
 

The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are inserted for convenience only 
and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.06  Amendments 
 

The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or amended in writing by any 
agreement or agreements entered into between the parties. 

Section 7.07  Further Assurance 
 

From time to time, and at the expense of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County 
agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates such additional instruments 
as the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the 
purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.08  Invalidity; Change in Laws 
 

In the event that the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue 
is unclear under this Fee Agreement, the County hereby expresses its intention that the interpretation of 
this Fee Agreement shall be in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the 
terms of this Fee Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under the FILOT Act, to the extent 
not inconsistent with any of the explicit terms hereof.  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and 
such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision shall be reformed to effectuate most closely the legal, 
valid, and enforceable intent thereof and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the 
maximum benefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the County to offer the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates the strongest inducement possible, within the provisions of the FILOT Act, to 
locate the Project in the County.  In case a change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws eliminates or 
reduces any of the restrictions or limitations applicable to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates and 
the FILOT incentive, the parties agree that the County will give expedient and full consideration to 
reformation of this Fee Agreement, and, if the County Council so decides, to provide the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits of such change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws. 

Section 7.09  Termination by Company 
 



 

23 
48760041 v4 

The Company is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or part 
of the Project upon providing the County with thirty (30) days’ written notice; provided, however, that (i) 
any monetary obligations existing hereunder and due and owing at the time of termination to a party 
hereto (including without limitation any amounts owed with respect to Section 4.03 hereof); and (ii) any 
provisions which are intended to survive termination shall survive such termination. In the year following 
such termination, all property shall be subject to ad valorem taxation or such other taxation or fee in lieu 
of taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. The Company’s obligation to make FILOT 
Payments under this Fee Agreement shall terminate in the year following the year of such termination 
pursuant to this section. 

Section 7.10  Entire Understanding 
 

This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto 
with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any 
representation to the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates 
delivered in connection with the execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 7.11  Waiver 
 

Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition of this Fee 
Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 7.12  Business Day 
 

In the event that any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee Agreement, required to 
be taken, made, or given on any day which is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the jurisdiction in 
which the person obligated to act is domiciled, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, made, or 
given on the following business day with the same effect as if given as required hereby, and no interest 
shall accrue in the interim. 

[End of Article VII] 
 



 

24 
48760041 v4 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 

this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the Chairman of County Council and the 
County Administrator and to be attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has caused 
this Fee Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above 
written. 
 
 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  Chairman of County Council 
 
 
  
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
County Administrator 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Clerk to County Council of  
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 
 



 

25 
48760041 v4 

 
 GRAY INDUSTRIAL REALTY 7, LLC 
 
  
 By:         
   Its:         

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 

 



 

A-1 
48760041 v4 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
All that certain piece, parcel, or lot of land lying and being in the State of South Carolina, County of Anderson, 
containing a total combined area of 38.40 acres of land, more or less, and shown and designated on a recombination 
plat prepared by Jay C. Hipp, PLS #29115 of H & M Surveying, LLC for Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC, dated 
August 19, 2022 and recorded August 23, 2022 in Plat Book S2954, at Page 5, in the Office of the Register of Deeds 
for Anderson County, South Carolina, to which plat reference is made for a more complete and perfect description. 

Derivation: This being the same property conveyed to Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC from Gray Industrial Realty V, 
LLC by deed dated August 18, 2022 and recorded August 22, 2022 in Book 16325, at Page 101, in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds for Anderson County, South Carolina. 

Recombined Tax Map No. 1930011015* 

 

_____________________ 
*Formerly Tax Map Nos. 193-00-15-005, 193-00-11-015, 193-00-11-009 and 193-00-11-004. 
 
 
 

 



 

B-1 
48760041 v4 

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC (the “Company”), do hereby 
certify in connection with Section 4.03 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement 
dated as of September 20, 2022 between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the 
“Agreement”), as follows: 
 
 (1) The total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the Project 
during the calendar year ending December 31, 20__ was $___________. 
 
 (2) The cumulative total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the 
Project from the period beginning __________, 20__ (that is, the beginning date of the Investment 
Period) and ending December 31, 20__, is $__________. 
 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
      GRAY INDUSTRIAL REALTY 7, LLC  
   
   
             
      Name:       
      Its:       

 
 



 

C-1 
48760041 v4 

[EXHIBIT C] 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of Gray Industrial Realty 7, LLC (the “Company”), do hereby 
certify in connection with Section 4.02 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement 
dated as of September 20, 2022 between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the 
“Agreement”), as follows: 
 
 (1) As of the date hereof, the aggregate amount of Special Source Revenue Credits previously 
received by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates is $_________. 
 
 (2) As of December 31, 20__, the aggregate amount of investment in costs of Infrastructure 
incurred by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period is not less than 
$_________. 

 
 (3) [Use only if expenditures for personal property will be used to account for Special 
Source Revenue Credits.]  Of the total amount set forth in (2) above, $________ pertains to the 
investment in personal property, including machinery and equipment, at the Project.  The applicable 
personal property, and associated expenditures, are listed below: 
 

Personal Property Description  Investment Amount 
   
   
   
   

 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
      GRAY INDUSTRIAL REALTY 7, LLC 
       
             
      Name:       
      Its:       
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE 2022-045 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE A REAL ESTATE LEASE WITH CLEMSON 
UNIVERSITY FOR SPACE IN THE ANDERSON COUNTY 1428 PEARMAN DAIRY 
ROAD FACILITY; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.  
 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County is the owner of the real estate located at 1428 Pearman 
Dairy Road, Anderson, South Carolina 29625, consisting of approximately 534,778 square feet of 
building improvements located on approximately 125.5 acres with TMS No. 095-15-01-001; 
 
 WHEREAS, Clemson University desires to lease approximately 3921 square feet in the 
1428 Pearman Dairy Road building for office space for the Clemson University Extension Service; 
and  
 
  WHEREAS, the location of the Clemson Extension Service in the 1428 Pearman Dairy 
Road facility will enhance and support agriculture within the County. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 
 
 1. The Real Estate Lease Agreement, attached as Exhibit A, between Anderson 
County and Clemson University is hereby approved and the Anderson County Administrator is 
authorized to execute the Ground Lease Agreement on behalf of the County. 
 

2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 
not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 
 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 

 
 



ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

1st Reading:__________________ 

2nd Reading:__________________ 

3rd Reading:___________________ 

Public Hearing:________________ 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A  
[Under Negotiation] 

 



Ordinance #2021-046 
Page 1 of 3 

3508 Dixon Rd, Anderson 

 
Ordinance #2022-046 

 
An Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning 
Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 91.78 acres from R-20 (Single-Family 
Residential District) to I-2 (Industrial Park District) on a parcel of land, 
identified as 3508 in the Centerville Station A Precinct shown in Deed Book 
15537 page 311. The parcel is further identified as TMS #95-00-03-006. 
 
Whereas, Anderson County, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”) has previously adopted Anderson County 
Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning Ordinance (the “Ordinance”), 
which Ordinance contains the Anderson County Official Zoning Map (the “Map”); 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Ordinance contains provisions providing for the amendment of the 
Map; and, 
 
Whereas, County Council desires to amend the Map by adopting a zoning map 
amendment from R-20 to I-2 for +/- 91.78 acres of TMS #95-00-03-006 described 
above; and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Planning Commission has held a duly advertised 
Public Hearing on September 13, 2022, during which it reviewed the proposed 
rezoning from R-20 to I-2 for +/- 91.78 acres of TMS #95-00-03-006 described above; 
and, 
 
Whereas, the Anderson County Council has duly advertised and held a Public 
Hearing on October 4, 2022, regarding said amendment of the Anderson County 
Official Zoning Map:  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
  



Ordinance #2021-046 
Page 2 of 3 

3508 Dixon Rd, Anderson 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 
 
 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that this proposed rezoning is 
consistent with the Anderson County Comprehensive Plan and in accord 
with requirements of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29, 
Article 5. 

 
2. The Anderson County Council hereby amends the Anderson County 

Official Zoning Map as previously adopted July 20, 1999, by Anderson 
County Ordinance #99-004 to rezone R-20 to I-2 for +/- 91.78 acres of 
TMS #95-00-03-006 described above.         

 
3. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
determination shall not affect the remaining terms and provisions of this 
ordinance, all of which  are hereby deemed separable. 

 
4. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby 
repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 
5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and 

after third reading and enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance #2021-046 
Page 3 of 3 

3508 Dixon Rd, Anderson 
 
 
ATTEST:  Ordinance 2022-046 
 
 
 
_____________________________         __________________________________   
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
_____________________________    
Renee D. Watts     
Clerk to Council 
              
   
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
        
 
 
     
Anderson County Attorney  
     
 
1st Reading:      September 20, 2022 
 
2nd Reading:      October 4, 2022 
 
3rd Reading:  October 18, 2022 
 
Public Hearing:  October 4, 2022 
 
 
 
 





















































ORDINANCE NO. 2022-048 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AN INFRASTRUCTURE 
FINANCING AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF TETRAMER 
TECHNOLOGIES LLC AND HOOBASTANK INDUSTRIES LLC, 
FOR A NEW PROJECT (TETRAMER 2) TO BE LOCATED IN AN 
ALREADY EXISTING JOINTLY OWNED AND OPERATED 
INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK IN CONJUNCTION WITH 
GREENVILLE COUNTY (TETRAMER MCIP), AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. (TITLE ONLY) 



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-049 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND A COMPANY OR COMPANIES KNOWN 
TO THE COUNTY AT THIS TIME AS PROJECT COVE WITH RESPECT TO 
CERTAIN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY IN THE COUNTY, 
WHEREBY SUCH PROPERTY WILL BE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN PAYMENTS 
IN LIEU OF TAXES, INCLUDING THE PROVISION OF CERTAIN SPECIAL 
SOURCE CREDITS; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and 

through its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to 
the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park 
Act”), and Title 4, Chapter 29, of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into 
agreements with industry whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified 
projects; to provide infrastructure credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of 
investment in certain infrastructure enhancing the economic development of the County; through all such 
powers the industrial development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade 
developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus 
utilize and employ the manpower, products and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare 
of the County by providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided 
locally; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT Act, and in order to induce investment in the County, the 
County did previously enter into an Inducement Agreement dated _______, 2022 (the “Inducement 
Agreement”) with ________________, a __________ (the “Company”) (which was known to the County 
at the time as “Project Cove”), with respect to the acquisition, construction, and installation of land, 
buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real and/or tangible 
personal property to constitute a new facility in the County for lodging and recreation (collectively, the 
“Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve an investment of 
approximately $5,000,000 in the County within the Investment Period (as such term is defined in the 
hereinafter defined Fee Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 
Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act, and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent 
not already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park such that the Project 
will receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, the County has agreed to, among other 
things, (a) enter into a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement with the Company (the 
“Fee Agreement”), whereby the County would provide therein for a payment of a fee-in-lieu-of taxes by 
the Company with respect to the Project, and (b) provide for certain special source credits to be claimed by 
the Company against its payments of fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to the Project pursuant to Section 4-
1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act; and  



2 

 
 WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form 
of the Fee Agreement which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it appears that the documents above referred to, which are now before this meeting, 
are in appropriate form and are an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or approved by the 
County for the purposes intended;   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 
 

Section 1. Based on information supplied by the Company, it is hereby found, determined and 
declared by the County Council, as follows: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” and “economic development property” as said terms 
are referred to and defined in the FILOT Act, and the County’s actions herein will subserve the purposes 
and in all respects conform to the provisions and requirements of the FILOT Act; 

(b) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

(c) The Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; 

(d) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation of 
jobs and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(e) The benefits of the Project are anticipated to be greater than the costs. 

Section 2. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement presented to this meeting are 
hereby approved and all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if 
the Fee Agreement was set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of County Council and/or the 
County Administrator are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver 
the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby 
authorized and directed to attest the same, and thereupon to cause the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the 
Company and cause a copy of the same to be delivered to the Anderson County Auditor, Assessor and 
Treasurer. The Fee Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby 
approved, or with such minor changes therein as shall be approved by the Chairman of County Council, 
upon advice of counsel, his execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of his approval of any and 
all changes or revisions therein from the form of Fee Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 3. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to 
County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement and the performance of all obligations 
of the County thereunder. 

Section 4. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases and provisions hereunder. 



3 

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its 
passage by the County Council. 

 
 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this __ day of ______, 20__.  
 
 
ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this __ day of ______, 2022.  
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
        
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 
 

 
Attest: 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 
            Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 
            Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:       
 Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 

 
 
First Reading: October 4, 2022 
Second Reading:    , 20__  
Third Reading: ___________, 20__  
Public Hearing: ___________, 20__  
 
 
 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of _________, 2022, _________, 
2022, and _________, 2022, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and 
voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 ___________________________________________ 
      Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
   Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Dated: _________, 2022 
 
 



 

HSB 7364706 v.2  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 
 

Between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 

and 
 
 

PROJECT COVE 
 
 
 

 
Dated as of __________, 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

i 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01 DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................ 3 
SECTION 1.02 PROJECT-RELATED INVESTMENTS ........................................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 2.01 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COUNTY.................................................. 7 
SECTION 2.02 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COMPANY ............................................... 7 

ARTICLE III 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 

SECTION 3.01 THE PROJECT ........................................................................................................................................... 9 
SECTION 3.02 DILIGENT COMPLETION ........................................................................................................................... 9 
SECTION 3.03 FILINGS AND REPORTS ............................................................................................................................. 9 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

SECTION 4.01 FILOT PAYMENTS ................................................................................................................................. 11 
SECTION 4.02 SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS ..................................................................................................... 12 
SECTION 4.03 FAILURE TO ACHIEVE MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS............................................................. 13 
SECTION 4.04 REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT ...................................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 4.05 FILOT PAYMENTS ON REPLACEMENT PROPERTY .................................................................................. 13 
SECTION 4.06 REDUCTIONS IN PAYMENT OF TAXES UPON DIMINUTION IN VALUE; INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE 

REQUIREMENT ...................................................................................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE V 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 5.01 CESSATION OF OPERATIONS ................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.02 RIGHTS TO INSPECT ................................................................................................................................ 15 
SECTION 5.03 CONFIDENTIALITY ................................................................................................................................. 15 
SECTION 5.04 LIMITATION OF COUNTY’S LIABILITY .................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.05 MERGERS, REORGANIZATIONS AND EQUITY TRANSFERS....................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.06 INDEMNIFICATION COVENANTS ............................................................................................................. 16 
SECTION 5.07 QUALIFICATION IN STATE ...................................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.08 NO LIABILITY OF COUNTY’S PERSONNEL .............................................................................................. 17 
SECTION 5.09 ASSIGNMENT, LEASES OR TRANSFERS ................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.10 ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES ................................................................................................................. 18 
SECTION 5.11 PRIORITY LIEN STATUS .......................................................................................................................... 18 
SECTION 5.12 INTEREST; PENALTIES ............................................................................................................................ 18 
SECTION 5.13 SPONSOR AFFILIATES ............................................................................................................................. 18 



 

ii 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE VI 

DEFAULT 

SECTION 6.01 EVENTS OF DEFAULT ............................................................................................................................. 20 
SECTION 6.02 REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT .................................................................................................................... 20 
SECTION 6.03 REIMBURSEMENT OF LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES ............................................ 21 
SECTION 6.04 NO WAIVER ........................................................................................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 7.01 NOTICES ................................................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.02 BINDING EFFECT .................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.03 COUNTERPARTS ..................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.04 GOVERNING LAW ................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.05 HEADINGS .............................................................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.06 AMENDMENTS ........................................................................................................................................ 23 
SECTION 7.07 FURTHER ASSURANCE ........................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.08 INVALIDITY; CHANGE IN LAWS .............................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.09 TERMINATION BY COMPANY .................................................................................................................. 24 
SECTION 7.10 ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING ...................................................................................................................... 24 
SECTION 7.11 WAIVER ................................................................................................................................................. 24 
SECTION 7.12 BUSINESS DAY ....................................................................................................................................... 24 
 
EXHIBIT A – DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
EXHIBIT B – INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
EXHIBIT C – INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 



 

iii 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 

 
 

As permitted under Section 12-44-55(B), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the 
“Code”), the parties have agreed to waive the requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the Code.  The 
following is a summary of the key provisions of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit 
Agreement.  This summary is inserted for convenience only and does not constitute a part of this Fee in 
Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement or a summary compliant with Section 12-44-55 of the 
Code.  
 
 

Company Name: [To come.] Project Name: Project Cove 
Projected Investment: $5,926,570 Projected Jobs: N/A 
Location (street): [To come.] Tax Map No.: [To come.] 
    
1. FILOT    
 Required Investment: $5,000,000   
 Investment Period: 5 years Ordinance No./Date: [To come.] 
 Assessment Ratio: 6% Term (years): 30 years 
 Fixed Millage: .32527 

 
Net Present Value (if 
yes, discount rate): 

N/A 
 

 Clawback information: See Section 4.03 
2. MCIP  
 Included in an MCIP: Yes 
 If yes, Name & Date: Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 

Park) dated as of December 1, 2010 by and between Anderson County and Greenville 
County 1 

  
3. SSRC  
 Total Amount: See Section 4.02 
 No. of Years 10 years 
    Yearly Increments: 85% for years 1-5; 35% for years 6-10 
 Clawback information: See Section 4.02 
4. Other information  

 
 

 
 

 
1 County to confirm. 



 

 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT (the “Fee 
Agreement”) is made and entered into as of ______________, 2022 by and between ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), acting by and through the Anderson County Council (the 
“County Council”) as the governing body of the County, and PROJECT COVE, a 
____________________ organized and existing under the laws of the State of _______________ (the 
“Company”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

1. Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended (the “Code”), authorizes the County to (a) induce industries to locate in the State; (b) encourage 
industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and employ manpower, 
products, and other resources of the State; and (c) enter into a fee agreement with entities meeting the 
requirements of the FILOT Act, which identifies certain property of such entities as economic development 
property and provides for the payment of a fee in lieu of tax with respect to such property. 

2. Sections 4-1-170 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide special source 
revenue credit (“Special Source Revenue Credit”) financing secured by and payable solely from revenues 
of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes for the purposes set forth in Section 4-29-68 of the 
Code, namely:  the defraying of the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the 
infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, 
including but not limited to machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County (collectively, 
“Infrastructure”). 

3. The Company (as a Sponsor, within the meaning of the FILOT Act) desires to provide for 
the acquisition and construction of the Project (as defined herein) to constitute a facility in the County for 
lodging and recreation.  

4. Based on information supplied by the Company, the County Council has evaluated the 
Project based on relevant criteria that include, but are not limited to, the purposes the Project is to 
accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created or 
maintained, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. Pursuant to Section 12-44-40(H)(1) of the 
FILOT Act, the County finds that: (a) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately 
provided locally; (b) the Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality therein and to no charge against their general credit or taxing powers; (c) the purposes to be 
accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (d) the benefits of the 
Project are greater than the costs. 

5. The Project is located, or if not so located as of the date of this Fee Agreement the County 
intends to use its best efforts to so locate the Project, in a joint county industrial or business park created 
with an adjoining county in the State pursuant to agreement entered into pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of the 
Code and Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution. 

6. By enactment of an Ordinance on __________, 2022, the County Council has authorized 
the County to enter into this Fee Agreement with the Company which classifies the Project as Economic 
Development Property under the FILOT Act and provides for the payment of fees in lieu of taxes and the 



 

2 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

provision of Special Source Revenue Credits to reimburse the Company for payment of the cost of certain 
Infrastructure in connection with the Project, all as further described herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 



 

3 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Section 1.01  Definitions 
 

The terms that this Article defines shall for all purposes of this Fee Agreement have the meanings 
herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 
 
 “Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by the 
County with respect to this Fee Agreement, including without limitation reasonable attorney fees; 
provided, however, that no such expense shall be considered an Administration Expense until the County 
has furnished to the Company a statement in writing indicating the amount of such expense and the 
reason it has been or will be incurred. 
 
 “Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity 
which owns all or part of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate) or 
which is owned in whole or in part by the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor 
Affiliate) or by any partner, shareholder or owner of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, 
such Sponsor Affiliate), as well as any subsidiary, affiliate, individual or entity who bears a relationship 
to the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate), as described in Section 
267(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
 “Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended.   
 

“Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which the Project 
or the first Phase thereof is placed in service, which date shall not be later than the last day of the property 
tax year which is three (3) years from the year in which the County and the Company enter into this Fee 
Agreement. 

“Company” shall mean Project Cove, a __________ _________, and any surviving, resulting, or 
transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any other person or entity which 
may succeed to the rights and duties of the Company. 

 “Condemnation Event” shall mean any act of taking by a public or quasi-public authority 
through condemnation, reverse condemnation or eminent domain. 
 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, 
investment by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates of at least $5,000,000 in Economic Development 
Property subject (non-exempt) to ad valorem taxation (in the absence of this Fee Agreement). 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as 
the governing body of the County. 

“County Administrator” shall mean the Anderson County Administrator, or the person holding 
any successor office of the County. 

“County Assessor” shall mean the Anderson County Assessor, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 



 

4 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

“County Auditor” shall mean the Anderson County Auditor, or the person holding any successor 
office of the County. 

“County Council” shall mean Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“County Treasurer” shall mean the Anderson County Treasurer, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“Defaulting Entity” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 6.02(a) hereof. 

“Deficiency Amount” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 4.03(a) hereof. 

“Department” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” in respect of the Project shall mean any reduction in the value, using the 
original fair market value (without regard to depreciation) as determined in Step 1 of Section 4.01 of this 
Fee Agreement, of the items which constitute a part of the Project and which are subject to FILOT 
payments which may be caused by the Company’s or any Sponsor Affiliate’s removal and/or disposal of 
equipment pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof, or by its election to remove components of the Project as a 
result of any damage or destruction or any Condemnation Event with respect thereto. 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean those items of real and tangible personal property 
of the Project which are eligible for inclusion as economic development property under the FILOT Act 
and this Fee Agreement, and selected and identified by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its 
annual filing of a SCDOR PT-300T or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be 
amended from time to time) for each year within the Investment Period. 

 “Equipment” shall mean machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and other tangible 
personal property, together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions thereto 
or therefor. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any event of default specified in Section 6.01 hereof. 

“Exemption Period” shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the property tax year 
after the property tax year in which an applicable portion of Economic Development Property is placed in 
service and ending on the Termination Date.  In case there are Phases of the Project, the Exemption 
Period applies to each year’s investment made during the Investment Period. 

“Extended Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning January 1 of the sixth (6th) year  
after the first year in which any portion of the Project is first placed in service, and ending on December 
31 of the tenth (10th) year after such first year in which any portion of the Project is first placed in service. 

“Fee Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement. 

“FILOT” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem 
property taxes as provided herein. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 



 

5 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

“FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, an 
investment of at least $2,500,000 by the Company, or of at least $5,000,000 by the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates in the aggregate, in Economic Development Property. 

“Improvements” shall mean improvements to the Land, including buildings, building additions, 
roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with any and all additions, fixtures, accessions, 
replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, 
within the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Initial Investment Period” shall mean, and shall be equal to, the Standard Investment Period. 

“Investment Period” shall mean the Initial Investment Period plus, if applicable pursuant to 
Section 3.01(a) hereof, the Extended Investment Period. 

 “Land” means the land upon which the Project will be located, as described in Exhibit A 
attached hereto, as Exhibit A may be supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section 3.01(c) 
hereof. 

“MCIP” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the 
MCIP Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement 
delivered by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the MCIP Act, or any 
successor provision, with respect to the Project. 

“MCIP Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“MCIP Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial 
and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010,2 as the same may be further amended or 
supplemented from time to time, or such other agreement as the County may enter with respect to the 
Project to offer the benefits of the Special Source Revenue Credits to the Company hereunder. 

 “Phase” or “Phases” in respect of the Project shall mean that the components of the Project are 
placed in service during more than one year during the Investment Period, and the word “Phase” shall 
therefore refer to the applicable portion of the Project placed in service in a given year during the 
Investment Period. 

“Project” shall mean the Land and all the Equipment and Improvements that the Company 
determines to be necessary, suitable or useful for the purposes described in Section 2.02(b) hereof, to the 
extent determined by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate to be a part of the Project and placed in 
service during the Investment Period, and any Replacement Property.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Project shall not include property which will not qualify for the 
FILOT pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the FILOT Act, including without limitation property which has 
been subject to ad valorem taxation in the State prior to commencement of the Investment Period; 
provided, however, the Project may include (a) modifications which constitute an expansion of the real 
property portion of the Project and (b) the property allowed pursuant to Section 12-44-110(2) of the 
FILOT Act. 

 
2 County to confirm. 



 

6 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

“Removed Components” shall mean components of the Project or portions thereof which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its sole discretion, elects to remove from the Project pursuant to 
Section 4.04 hereof or as a result of any Condemnation Event. 

“Replacement Property” shall mean any property which is placed in service as a replacement for 
any item of Equipment or any Improvement previously subject to this Fee Agreement regardless of 
whether such property serves the same functions as the property it is replacing and regardless of whether 
more than one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment or any Improvement to the fullest extent 
that the FILOT Act permits. 

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the annual special source credits provided to the Company 
pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof.   

“Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity that joins with the Company and that participates in the 
investment in, or financing of, the Project and which meets the requirements under the FILOT Act to be 
entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its participation in the Project, all as set forth 
in Section 5.13 hereof. 

“Standard Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day of any purchase 
or acquisition of Economic Development Property and ending five (5) years after the Commencement 
Date.   

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Termination Date” shall mean, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the end of the last day 
of the property tax year which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which such Phase of 
the Project is placed in service; provided, that the intention of the parties is that the Company will make at 
least 30 annual FILOT payments under Article IV hereof with respect to each Phase of the Project; and 
provided further, that if this Fee Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance with the terms hereof, the 
Termination Date shall mean the date of such termination. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act, as 
amended or supplemented from time to time, concerning, among other things, the necessity of obtaining 
County consent to certain transfers. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 
document. 

Section 1.02  Project-Related Investments 
 
 The term “investment” or “invest” as used herein shall include not only investments made by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments 
made by or for the benefit of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate with respect to the Project through 
federal, state, or local grants, to the extent such investments are subject to ad valorem taxes or FILOT 
payments by the Company. 

 
[End of Article I] 



 

7 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 2.01  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County 
 
 The County hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and 
acts through the County Council as its governing body. The County has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Fee Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein or therein and has 
obtained all consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its 
obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based upon representations by the Company, the Project constitutes a “project” within 
the meaning of the FILOT Act. 

(c) The County has agreed that each item of real and tangible personal property comprising 
the Project which is eligible to be economic development property under the FILOT Act and that the 
Company selects shall be considered Economic Development Property and is thereby exempt from ad 
valorem taxation in the State. 

(d) The millage rate set forth in Step 3 of Section 4.01(a) hereof is .32527 mills, which is the 
millage rate in effect with respect to the location of the proposed Project as of June 30, 2021, as permitted 
under Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(d) of the FILOT Act. 

(e) The County will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Project to be located in a 
MCIP for a term extending at least until the end of the period of FILOT Payments against which a Special 
Source Credit is to be provided under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.02  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Company 
 

The Company hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company is organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
__________, is duly authorized to transact business in the State, has power to enter into this Fee 
Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the 
FILOT Act as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to operate the Project for the purpose of 
a lodging and recreation facility 

(c) , and for such other purposes that the FILOT Act permits as the Company may deem 
appropriate. 

(d) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County has been instrumental in 
inducing the Company to locate the Project in the County. 

(e) The Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, will use commercially reasonable 
efforts to meet, or cause to be met the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period. 



 

8 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

[End of Article II] 



 

9 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE III 
 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 
 
Section 3.01  The Project 
 

(a) The Company intends and expects, together with any Sponsor Affiliate, to (i) construct 
and acquire the Project and (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Initial 
Investment Period. The Company anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in service 
during the calendar year ending December 31, 2022. The County agrees that if the Company meets the 
Contract Minimum Investment Requirement during the Initial Investment Period, the Company shall be 
entitled hereunder to the Extended Investment Period with respect to the Project. Failure by the Company 
to achieve the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement shall not result in an Event of Default under 
this Agreement. 

(b) Pursuant to the FILOT Act and subject to Section 4.03 hereof, the Company and the 
County hereby agree that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall identify annually those assets 
which are eligible for FILOT payments under the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement, and which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate selects for such treatment by listing such assets in its annual PT-300T 
form (or comparable form) to be filed with the Department (as such may be amended from time to time) 
and that by listing such assets, such assets shall automatically become Economic Development Property 
and therefore be exempt from all ad valorem taxation during the Exemption Period. Anything contained 
in this Fee Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall not 
be obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project. However, if the Company, together with any 
Sponsor Affiliates, does not meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period, the provisions of Section 4.03 hereof shall control. 

(c) The Company may add to the Land such real property, located in the same taxing District 
in the County as the original Land, as the Company, in its discretion, deems useful or desirable. In such 
event, the Company, at its expense, shall deliver an appropriately revised Exhibit A to this Fee 
Agreement, in form reasonably acceptable to the County. 

Section 3.02  Diligent Completion 
 

The Company agrees to use its reasonable efforts to cause the completion of the Project as soon 
as practicable, but in any event on or prior to the end of the Investment Period. 

Section 3.03  Filings and Reports 
 

(a) Each year during the term of the Fee Agreement, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates shall deliver to the County, the County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County Treasurer 
a copy of their most recent annual filings with the Department with respect to the Project, not later than 
thirty (30) days following delivery thereof to the Department. 

(b) The Company shall cause a copy of this Fee Agreement, as well as a copy of the 
completed Form PT-443 of the Department, to be filed with the County Auditor and the County Assessor, 
and to their counterparts in the partner county to the MCIP Agreement, the County Administrator and the 
Department within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by all 
parties hereto. 



 

10 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

(c) Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree to maintain complete books and 
records accounting for the acquisition, financing, construction, and operation of the Project.  Such books 
and records shall (i) permit ready identification of the various Phases and components thereof; (ii) 
confirm the dates on which each Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made 
by the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates in accordance with Section 3.03(a) or (b) above with 
respect to property placed in service as part of the Project. 

[End of Article III] 



 

11 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE IV 
 

FILOT PAYMENTS 
 
Section 4.01  FILOT Payments 
 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the FILOT Act, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates, as applicable, are required to make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes to the County with 
respect to the Economic Development Property. Inasmuch as the Company anticipates an initial 
investment of sums sufficient for the Project to qualify for a fee in lieu of tax arrangement under Section 
12-44-50(A)(1) of the FILOT Act, the County and the Company have negotiated the amount of the 
FILOT Payments in accordance therewith. The Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes on all Economic Development Property which comprises the 
Project and is placed in service, as follows: the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes during the Exemption Period with respect to the Economic 
Development Property or, if there are Phases of the Economic Development Property, with respect to 
each Phase of the Economic Development Property, said payments to be made annually and to be due and 
payable and subject to penalty assessments on the same dates and in the same manner as prescribed by the 
County for ad valorem taxes. The determination of the amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be 
in accordance with the following procedure (subject, in any event, to the procedures required by the 
FILOT Act): 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or Phase of the 
Economic Development Property) placed in service during the Exemption Period using original income 
tax basis for State income tax purposes for any real property and Improvements without regard to 
depreciation (provided, the fair market value of real property, as the FILOT Act defines such term, that 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates obtains by construction or purchase in an arms-length 
transaction is equal to the original income tax basis, and otherwise, the determination of the fair market 
value is by appraisal) and original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for any personal 
property less depreciation for each year allowable for property tax purposes, except that no extraordinary 
obsolescence shall be allowable.  The fair market value of the real property for the first year of the 
Exemption Period remains the fair market value of the real property and Improvements for the life of the 
Exemption Period.  The determination of these values shall take into account all applicable property tax 
exemptions that State law would allow to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates if the property were 
taxable, except those exemptions that Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the FILOT Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of six percent (6%) to the fair market value in Step 1 to 
establish the taxable value of the Economic Development Property (or each Phase of the Economic 
Development Property) in the year it is placed in service and in each of the 29 years thereafter or such 
longer period of years in which the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement permit the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates to make annual FILOT payments. 

Step 3: Use a millage rate of .32527 mills during the Exemption Period against the taxable value 
to determine the amount of the FILOT Payments due during the Exemption Period on the applicable 
payment dates. 



 

12 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

(b) In the event that a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further 
appeal is allowable declares the FILOT Act and/or the herein-described FILOT Payments invalid or 
unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions to reform such 
payments so as to effectuate most closely the intent thereof (without increasing the amount of incentives 
being afforded herein) and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits to be 
derived herefrom, the intention of the County being to offer the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates a 
strong inducement to locate the Project in the County.  If the Economic Development Property is deemed 
to be subject to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, but with 
appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions which are afforded to the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates.  Any amount determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company and 
such Sponsor Affiliates, with respect to a year or years for which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates 
previously remitted FILOT Payments to the County hereunder, shall (i) take into account all applicable 
tax exemptions to which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled if the Economic 
Development Property was not and had not been Economic Development Property under the Act; and 
(ii) be reduced by the total amount of FILOT Payments the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates had 
made with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms hereof.  

Section 4.02  Special Source Credits 
 

(a) In accordance with and pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of the FILOT Act and Section 4-1-
175 of the MCIP Act, in order to reimburse the Company for qualifying capital expenditures incurred for 
costs of the Infrastructure during the Standard Investment Period, the Company shall be entitled to 
receive, and the County agrees to provide, annual Special Source Credits against the Company’s FILOT 
Payments for a period of ten (10) consecutive years in an amount equal to eighty-five percent (85%) for 
years one through five (1-5) and thirty-five percent (35%) for years six through ten (6-10) of that portion 
of FILOT Payments payable by the Company with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment 
made by the Company in the Project during the Standard Investment Period), calculated and applied after 
payment of the amount due the non-host county under the MCIP Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken. 

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the 
Company exceed the amount expended with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The Company 
shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the provisions of the 
preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
C.  

(d) Should the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement not be met by the end of the 
Standard Investment Period, any Special Source Credits otherwise payable under this Fee Agreement 
shall no longer be payable by the County, and the Company shall be retroactively liable to the County for 
the amount of the Special Source Credits previously received by the Company, plus interest at the rate 
payable for late payment of taxes. Any amounts determined to be owing pursuant to the foregoing 
sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the one hundred twentieth (120th) day following the 
last day of the Investment Period. 

(e) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Fee Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), 



 

13 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

the amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property 
was removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal. 

(f) Each annual Special Source Credit shall be reflected by the County Auditor or other 
authorized County official or representative on each bill for FILOT Payments sent to the Company by the 
County for each applicable property tax year, by reducing such FILOT Payments otherwise due by the 
amount of the Special Source Credit to be provided to the Company for such property tax year. 

(g) The Special Source Credits are payable solely from the FILOT Payments, are not secured 
by, or in any way entitled to, a pledge of the full faith, credit or taxing power of the County, are not an 
indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any State constitutional provision or statutory 
limitation, are payable solely from a special source that does not include revenues from any tax or license, 
and are not a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the 
County. 

Section 4.03  Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment Requirement 
 

(a) In the event the Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, fails to meet the Contract 
Minimum Investment Requirement by the end of the Investment Period, this Fee Agreement shall 
terminate and the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County an amount which is equal to 
the excess, if any, of (i) the total amount of ad valorem taxes as would result from taxes levied on the 
Project by the County, municipality or municipalities, school district or school districts, and other 
political units as if the items of property comprising the Economic Development Property were not 
Economic Development Property, but with appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions and 
abatements to which the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled in such a case, through 
and including the end of the Investment Period, over (ii) the total amount of FILOT payments the 
Company and such Sponsor Affiliates have made with respect to the Economic Development Property 
(after taking into account any Special Source Credits received) (such excess, a “Deficiency Amount”) for 
the period through and including the end of the Investment Period. Any amounts determined to be owing 
pursuant to the foregoing sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the one hundred twentieth 
(120th) day following the last day of the Investment Period.  

 (b)  As a condition to the FILOT benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to provide the 
County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County Treasurer with an annual 
certification as to investment in the Project. Such certification shall be in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be due no later than the May 1 following the immediately preceding 
December 31 of each year during the Investment Period. 

Section 4.04  Removal of Equipment 
 

Subject, always, to the other terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project from the Project 
in its sole discretion with the result that said components shall no longer be considered a part of the 
Project and, to the extent such constitute Economic Development Property, shall no longer be subject to 
the terms of this Fee Agreement.  Economic Development Property is disposed of only when it is 
scrapped or sold or removed from the Project. If it is removed from the Project, it is subject to ad valorem 
property taxes to the extent the Property remains in the State and is otherwise subject to ad valorem 
property taxes. 

Section 4.05  FILOT Payments on Replacement Property 
 



 

14 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

If the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate elects to replace any Removed Components and to 
substitute such Removed Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Economic 
Development Property, or the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate otherwise utilizes Replacement 
Property, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act, the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall make statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard 
to such Replacement Property in accordance with the following: 

(i) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the 
Economic Development Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is deemed to replace the 
oldest Economic Development Property subject to the Fee, whether real or personal, which is 
disposed of in the same property tax year in which the Replacement Property is placed in service.  
Replacement Property qualifies as Economic Development Property only to the extent of the 
original income tax basis of Economic Development Property which is being disposed of in the 
same property tax year.  More than one piece of property can replace a single piece of Economic 
Development Property.  To the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 
exceeds the original income tax basis of the Economic Development Property which it is 
replacing, the excess amount is subject to annual payments calculated as if the exemption for 
Economic Development Property were not allowable.  Replacement Property is entitled to 
treatment under the Fee Agreement for the period of time remaining during the Exemption Period 
for the Economic Development Property which it is replacing; and 

(ii) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the FILOT shall be 
recorded using its income tax basis, and the calculation of the FILOT shall utilize the millage rate 
and assessment ratio in effect with regard to the original property subject to the FILOT. 

Section 4.06  Reductions in Payment of Taxes Upon Diminution in Value; Investment Maintenance 
Requirement 

 
In the event of a Diminution in Value of the Economic Development Property, the Payment in 

Lieu of Taxes with regard to the Economic Development Property shall be reduced in the same proportion 
as the amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of the Economic 
Development Property as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 4.01(a) hereof; provided, however, 
that if at any time subsequent to the end of the Investment Period, the total value of the Project remaining 
in the County based on the original income tax basis thereof (that is, without regard to depreciation), is 
less than the FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement, then beginning with the first payment 
thereafter due hereunder and continuing until the Termination Date, the Project shall no longer be entitled 
to the incentive provided in Section 4.01, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate shall therefore 
commence to pay regular ad valorem taxes thereon, calculated as set forth in Section 4.01(b) hereof.   

[End of Article IV] 



 

15 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE V 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 5.01  Cessation of Operations 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Fee Agreement, each of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT incentive may 
end, and this Fee Agreement may be terminated by the County, at the County’s sole discretion, if the 
Company ceases operations at the Project; provided, however, that the Special Source Credits provided 
for in this Fee Agreement shall automatically terminate if the Company ceases operations as set forth in 
this Section 5.01.  For purposes of this Section, “ceases operations” means closure of the facility or the 
cessation of production and shipment of products to customers for a continuous period of twelve (12) 
months.  The provisions of Section 4.03 hereof relating to retroactive payments shall apply, if applicable, 
if this Fee Agreement is terminated in accordance with this Section prior to the end of the Investment 
Period.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agrees that if this Fee Agreement is terminated 
pursuant to this subsection, that under no circumstance shall the County be required to refund or pay any 
monies to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 5.02  Rights to Inspect 
 

The Company agrees that the County and its authorized agents shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and examine and inspect the Project. The 
County and its authorized agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times and upon prior reasonable 
notice, to have access to examine and inspect the Company’s South Carolina property tax returns, as filed. 
The aforesaid rights of examination and inspection shall be exercised only upon such reasonable and 
necessary terms and conditions as the Company shall prescribe, and shall be subject to the provisions of 
Section 5.03 hereof. 

Section 5.03  Confidentiality 
 

The County acknowledges and understands that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may 
utilize confidential and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and 
techniques (herein “Confidential Information”). In this regard, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County “Confidential Information.”  The 
County agrees that, except as required by law, neither the County nor any employee, agent, or contractor 
of the County shall disclose or otherwise divulge any such clearly labeled Confidential Information to any 
other person, firm, governmental body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so 
by law.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledge that the County is subject to the 
South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and 
information on request, absent an exemption. In the event that the County is required to disclose any 
Confidential Information obtained from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates to any third party, the 
County agrees to provide the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates with as much advance notice as is 
reasonably possible of such requirement before making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with 
any attempts by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates to obtain judicial or other relief from such 
disclosure requirement. 

Section 5.04  Limitation of County’s Liability 
 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any financial obligation the County may incur 
hereunder, including for the payment of money, shall not be deemed to constitute a pecuniary liability or 



 

16 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

a debt or general obligation of the County (it being intended herein that any obligations of the County 
with respect to the Special Source Revenue Credits shall be payable only from FILOT payments received 
from or payable by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates); provided, however, that nothing herein shall 
prevent the Company from enforcing its rights hereunder by suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

Section 5.05  Mergers, Reorganizations and Equity Transfers 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that any mergers, reorganizations 
or consolidations of the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates may cause the Project to become ineligible 
for negotiated fees in lieu of taxes under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions; provided that, to the extent provided by Section 12-44-
120 of the FILOT Act or any successor provision, any financing arrangements entered into by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates with respect to the Project and any security interests granted by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates in connection therewith shall not be construed as a transfer for 
purposes of the Transfer Provisions.  Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, it 
is not intended in this Fee Agreement that the County shall impose transfer restrictions with respect to the 
Company, any Sponsor Affiliates or the Project as are any more restrictive than the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 5.06  Indemnification Covenants 
 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Fee Agreement or in any other agreements 
with the County, the Company agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County, its County Council 
members, elected officials, officers, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 
Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising 
from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project or the Land by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, their members, officers, shareholders, employees, servants, 
contractors, and agents during the Term, and, the Company further, shall indemnify, defend and save the 
Indemnified Parties harmless against and from all claims arising during the Term from (i) entering into 
and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (ii) any condition of the Project, (iii) any breach 
or default on the part of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in the performance of any of its 
obligations under this Fee Agreement, (iv) any act of negligence of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate 
or its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, (v) any act of negligence of any assignee or 
lessee of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or of any agents, contractors, servants, employees or 
licensees of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or (vi) any environmental 
violation, condition, or effect with respect to the Project.  The Company shall indemnify, defend and save 
the County harmless from and against all costs and expenses incurred in or in connection with any such 
claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon 
notice from the County, the Company shall defend it in any such action, prosecution or proceeding with 
legal counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties 
shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Fee Agreement, or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the FILOT, by reason of the execution of 
this Fee Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the 
Project by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in 
connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the 
County or any of the other Indemnified Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such 
event the Company shall indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of 
any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection 
with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the 



 

17 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

Company shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County 
(the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall 
not apply to the extent that any such claim is attributable to (i) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or 
willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this Fee 
Agreement by the County. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party 
resulting from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, shall survive any termination of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 5.07  Qualification in State 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates warrant that it is duly qualified to do business in 
the State, and covenants that it will continue to be so qualified so long as it operates any portion of the 
Project. 

Section 5.08  No Liability of County’s Personnel 
 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County contained herein 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County and 
shall be binding upon any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or 
employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and 
no recourse shall be had for the payment of any moneys hereunder against any member of the governing 
body of the County or any elected official, officer, agent, servants or employee of the County and no 
recourse shall be had against any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, 
servant or employee of the County for the performance of any of the covenants and agreements of the 
County herein contained or for any claims based thereon except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 5.09  Assignment, Leases or Transfers 
 

The County agrees that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may at any time (a) transfer all 
or any of their rights and interests under this Fee Agreement or with respect to all or any part of the 
Project, or (b) enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar arrangement or succession of 
such arrangements with any financing or other entity with respect to this Fee Agreement or all or any part 
of the Project, including without limitation any sale-leaseback, equipment lease, build-to-suit lease, 
synthetic lease, nordic lease, defeased tax benefit or transfer lease, assignment, sublease or similar 
arrangement or succession of such arrangements, regardless of the identity of the income tax owner of 
such portion of the Project, whereby the transferee in any such arrangement leases the portion of the 
Project in question to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate or is leasing the portion of the Project in question from the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate.  In order to preserve the FILOT benefit afforded hereunder with respect to any portion 
of the Project so transferred, leased, financed, or otherwise affected: (i) except in connection with any 
transfer to an Affiliate of the Company or of any Sponsor Affiliate, or transfers, leases, or financing 
arrangements pursuant to clause (b) above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall obtain the prior consent or subsequent 
ratification of the County which consent or subsequent ratification may be granted by the County in its 
sole discretion; (ii) except when a financing entity which is the income tax owner of all or part of the 
Project is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) above and such financing entity assumes in writing the 
obligations of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, hereunder, or when the County 
consents in writing, no such transfer shall affect or reduce any of the obligations of the Company and any 



 

18 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

Sponsor Affiliates hereunder; (iii) to the extent the transferee or financing entity shall become obligated 
to make FILOT Payments hereunder, the transferee shall assume the then current basis of, as the case may 
be, the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates (or prior transferee) in the portion of the Project transferred; 
(iv) the Company or applicable Sponsor Affiliate, transferee or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) 
days thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the County and the Department a true and complete copy 
of any such transfer agreement; and (v) the Company, the Sponsor Affiliates and the transferee shall 
comply with all other requirements of the Transfer Provisions. 

Subject to County consent when required under this Section, and at the expense of the Company 
or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, the County agrees to take such further action or execute such 
further agreements, documents, and instruments as may be reasonably required to effectuate the 
assumption by any such transferee of all or part of the rights of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
under this Fee Agreement and/or any release of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this 
Section.   

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that such a transfer of an interest 
under this Fee Agreement or in the Project may cause all or part of the Project to become ineligible for the 
FILOT benefit afforded hereunder or result in penalties under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions.   

Section 5.10  Administration Expenses 
 

The Company agrees to pay any Administration Expenses to the County when and as they shall 
become due, but in no event later than the date which is the earlier of any payment date expressly 
provided for in this Fee Agreement or the date which is forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice 
from the County, accompanied by such supporting documentation as may be necessary to evidence the 
County’s or Indemnified Party’s right to receive such payment, specifying the nature of such expense and 
requesting payment of same. 

Section 5.11  Priority Lien Status 
 

The County’s right to receive FILOT payments hereunder shall have a first priority lien status 
pursuant to Sections 12-44-90(E) and (F) of the FILOT Act and Chapters 4, 49, 51, 53, and 54 of Title 12 
of the Code. 

Section 5.12  Interest; Penalties 
 

In the event the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments to the 
County required under this Fee Agreement, then the item or installment so in default shall continue as an 
obligation of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate until the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall 
have fully paid the amount, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree, as applicable, to pay the 
same with interest thereon at a rate, unless expressly provided otherwise herein and in the case of FILOT 
payments, of 5% per annum, compounded monthly, to accrue from the date on which the payment was 
due and, in the case of FILOT payments, at the rate for non-payment of ad valorem taxes under State law 
and subject to the penalties the law provides until payment. 
 
Section 5.13  Sponsor Affiliates 
 

The Company may designate from time to time any Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 12-44-30(20) and 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsor Affiliates shall join with the 
Company and make investments with respect to the Project, or participate in the financing of such 



 

19 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

investments, and shall agree to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement pursuant to 
the terms of a written joinder agreement with the County and the Company, in form reasonably 
acceptable to the County.  The Company shall provide the County and the Department with written notice 
of any Sponsor Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section within ninety (90) days after the end of the 
calendar year during which any such Sponsor Affiliate has placed in service any portion of the Project, in 
accordance with Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT Act. 
 

[End of Article V] 



 

20 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE VI 
 

DEFAULT 
 
Section 6.01  Events of Default 
 

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement, and the term “Event of 
Default” shall mean, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, any one or more of the 
following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to make the FILOT Payments described 
in Section 4.01 hereof, or any other amounts payable to the County under this Fee Agreement when due, 
which failure shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice thereof 
from the County; provided, however, that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to all 
redemption rights granted by applicable statutes; or 

(b) A representation or warranty made by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate hereunder 
which is deemed materially incorrect when deemed made; or  

(c) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to perform any of the terms, conditions, 
obligations, or covenants hereunder (other than those under (a) above), which failure shall continue for a 
period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the County to the Company and such Sponsor Affiliate 
specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is diligently pursuing such action until 
the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be extended to cover such additional period 
during which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate is diligently pursuing corrective action; or 

(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 
hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the 
Company to the County and any Sponsor Affiliates specifying such failure and requesting that it be 
remedied, unless the County shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is 
diligently pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be 
extended to cover such additional period during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action. 
 
Section 6.02  Remedies Upon Default 
 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate (the 
“Defaulting Entity”) shall have occurred and shall be continuing, the County may take any one or more of 
the following remedial actions as to the Defaulting Entity, only: 

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 
 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to 
collect the amounts due hereunder.   

In no event shall the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be liable to the County or otherwise for 
monetary damages resulting from the Company’s (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) failure to meet 
the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement other than as expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement. 

 In addition to all other remedies provided herein, the failure to make FILOT payments shall give 
rise to a lien for tax purposes as provided in Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act.  In this regard, and 



 

21 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the County may exercise the remedies 
that general law (including Title 12, Chapter 49 of the Code) provides with regard to the enforced 
collection of ad valorem taxes to collect any FILOT payments due hereunder. 

(b) Whenever any Event of Default by the County shall have occurred or shall be continuing, 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate may take one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 
 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement as to the acting party; or 
 

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 
appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 6.03  Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Expenses and Other Expenses 
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, 
should the County be required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection of 
payments due hereunder or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or 
agreement, the County shall be entitled, within thirty (30) days of demand therefor, to reimbursement of 
the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred.   

Section 6.04  No Waiver 
 

No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, 
power, or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, 
or remedy hereunder. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless the same shall be in 
writing and signed by the waiving party hereto. 
 

[End of Article VI] 



 

22 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

ARTICLE VII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 7.01  Notices 
 

Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be provided under this Fee 
Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited with the United 
States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or 
addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), 
except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such 
provision shall control: 

 
If to the Company: 
 
     
Attn:       
     
     
 
With a copy to: 
 
Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 
Attn: J. Philip Land, Jr. (pland@hsblawfirm.com) 
One North Main Street 
2nd Floor 
Greenville, South Carolina  29601   
 
If to the County: 
 

 Anderson County 
Attn:  County Administrator 

 101 S. Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Anderson County Attorney 
101 S. Main Street  
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 

 
Section 7.02  Binding Effect 
 

This Fee Agreement and each document contemplated hereby or related hereto shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County, and their respective 
successors and assigns.  In the event of the dissolution of the County or the consolidation of any part of 
the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of the County to any other 
such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements of this Fee 
Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any 
entity, officer, board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of 
the County has been transferred. 



 

23 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

Section 7.03  Counterparts 
 

This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and all of the counterparts 
taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 7.04  Governing Law 
 

This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection herewith shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 7.05  Headings 
 

The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are inserted for convenience only 
and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.06  Amendments 
 

The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or amended in writing by any 
agreement or agreements entered into between the parties. 

Section 7.07  Further Assurance 
 

From time to time, and at the expense of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County 
agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates such additional instruments 
as the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the 
purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.08  Invalidity; Change in Laws 
 

In the event that the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue 
is unclear under this Fee Agreement, the County hereby expresses its intention that the interpretation of 
this Fee Agreement shall be in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the 
terms of this Fee Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under the FILOT Act, to the extent 
not inconsistent with any of the explicit terms hereof.  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates do not 
realize the economic benefit they are intended to receive from the County under this Fee Agreement, the 
County shall provide the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates additional Special Source Revenue Credits 
to the maximum extent permitted by law, in an amount sufficient to ensure the same net financial benefit 
is afforded to the Project as is to be provided hereunder. Further, the remaining provisions hereof shall be 
unimpaired, and such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision shall be reformed to effectuate most 
closely the legal, valid, and enforceable intent thereof and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates with the maximum benefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the County to offer 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates the strongest inducement possible, within the provisions of the 
FILOT Act, to locate the Project in the County.  In case a change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina 
laws eliminates or reduces any of the restrictions or limitations applicable to the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates and the FILOT incentive, the parties agree that the County will give expedient and full 
consideration to reformation of this Fee Agreement, and, if the County Council so decides, to provide the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits of such change in the FILOT Act or South 
Carolina laws. 



 

24 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

Section 7.09  Termination by Company 
 

The Company is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or part 
of the Project upon providing the County with thirty (30) days’ written notice; provided, however, that (i) 
any monetary obligations existing hereunder and due and owing at the time of termination to a party 
hereto (including without limitation any amounts owed with respect to Section 4.03 hereof); and (ii) any 
provisions which are intended to survive termination shall survive such termination. In the year following 
such termination, all property shall be subject to ad valorem taxation or such other taxation or fee in lieu 
of taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. The Company’s obligation to make FILOT 
Payments under this Fee Agreement shall terminate in the year following the year of such termination 
pursuant to this section. 

Section 7.10  Entire Understanding 
 

This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto 
with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any 
representation to the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates 
delivered in connection with the execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 7.11  Waiver 
 

Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition of this Fee 
Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 7.12  Business Day 
 

In the event that any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee Agreement, required to 
be taken, made, or given on any day which is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the jurisdiction in 
which the person obligated to act is domiciled, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, made, or 
given on the following business day with the same effect as if given as required hereby, and no interest 
shall accrue in the interim. 

[End of Article VII] 
 



 

25 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 

this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the County Chairman and to be attested by 
the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed by its 
duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 
   ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
   By:      

Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 
 

Attest: 
 
 

By:_   
Lacey A. Croegaert, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 
 
 



 

26 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

 
 PROJECT COVE 
 
        
 By:         
 Its:         

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 

 



 

A-1 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
 

[To come.] 
 



 

B-1 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of __________ (the “Company”), do hereby certify in connection 
with Section 4.03 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of 
__________, 20__ between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the “Agreement”), as 
follows: 
 
 (1) The total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the Project 
during the calendar year ending December 31, 20__ was $___________. 
 
 (2) The cumulative total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the 
Project from the period beginning __________, 20__ (that is, the beginning date of the Investment 
Period) and ending December 31, 20__, is $__________. 
 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 
             
      Name:       
      Its:       

 
 



 

C-1 
HSB 7364706 v.2  

EXHIBIT C 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of __________ (the “Company”), do hereby certify in connection 
with Section 4.02 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of 
__________, 20__ between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the “Agreement”), as 
follows: 
 
 (1) As of the date hereof, the aggregate amount of Special Source Revenue Credits previously 
received by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates is $_________. 
 
 (2) As of December 31, 20__, the aggregate amount of investment in costs of Infrastructure 
incurred by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period is not less than 
$_________. 
 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
       
             
      Name:       
      Its:       
 
 
 
 



HSB 7365753 v.2  

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-050 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK 
TO INCLUDE CERTAIN PROPERTY OF PROJECT COVE, AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted by Anderson County Council 
on November 16, 2010 and Ordinance No. 4391 enacted November 2, 2010 by Greenville County 
Council, Anderson and Greenville Counties entered into an Agreement for the Development of a 
Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010 (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park 
created therein (the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of 
Anderson County and Greenville County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County to 
Project Cove, it is now desired that the boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain 
parcels in Anderson County;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that: 
 
 1. Exhibit A to the Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include 
the property located in Anderson County described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, 
pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon adoption by Greenville County Council of a 
corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to so include such property and 
Exhibit A as so revised, without further action by either county. 

 
2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 

not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
 

 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 

 
 
 



HSB 7365753 v.2  

 
ATTEST:       FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
________________________________ _______________________________ 
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
County Attorney 

 

1st Reading: _________________ 

2nd Reading: _________________ 

3rd Reading: __________________ 

Public Hearing: _______________ 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 



 A-1 
HSB 7365753 v.2  

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
Anderson County TMS Numbers: 

[To come.] 

 



HSB 7365753 v.2  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of ___________, 2022, ________, 2022 and 
_________, 2022, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and 
an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: ________, 2022 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-057 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AN 
INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA AND PROJECT COVE, WHEREBY, UNDER CERTAIN 
CONDITIONS, ANDERSON COUNTY WILL EXECUTE A FEE IN LIEU OF TAX 
AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO A 
PROJECT IN THE COUNTY WHEREBY THE PROJECT WOULD BE SUBJECT 
TO PAYMENT OF CERTAIN FEES IN LIEU OF TAXES, AND WHEREBY 
PROJECT/COMPANY WILL BE PROVIDED CERTAIN CREDITS AGAINST 
FEE PAYMENTS IN REIMBURSEMENT OF INVESTMENT IN RELATED 
QUALIFIED INFRASTRUCTURE; AND PROVIDING FOR RELATED 
MATTERS. 

 
WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 

Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of 
Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park Act”), Code of Laws 
of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), to enter into agreements with industry, to offer certain 
privileges, benefits and incentives as inducements for economic development within the County; to acquire, 
or cause to be acquired, properties as may be defined as “projects” in the Act and to enter agreements with 
the business or industry to facilitate the construction, operation, maintenance and improvement of such 
projects; to enter into or allow financing agreements with respect to such projects; and to accept any grants 
for such projects through which powers the industrial and business development of the State will be 
promoted, whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified projects; to 
provide credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of investment in certain 
infrastructure serving the County or the project, including improved or unimproved real estate and personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the manufacturing or industrial enterprise 
(collectively, “Infrastructure”); through all such powers, the industrial development of the State of South 
Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial 
enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus utilize and employ the manpower, products and 
resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare the County by providing services, employment, 
recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and  

 
WHEREAS, Project Cove (the “Company”) has requested that the County assist in the acquisition, 

construction and installation of land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings 
and other real and/or tangible personal property to constitute a lodging and recreation facility in the County 
(collectively, the “Project”), which will result in expected investment by the Company in the Project of 
approximately $5,000,000 in non-exempt investment by December 31 of the fifth year after the first year 
which any portion of the Project is first placed in service; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the County enter into a fee in lieu of tax agreement 

with the Company, thereby providing for certain fee in lieu of tax and special source credit incentives with 
respect to the Project, all as more fully set forth in the Inducement Agreement (as hereinbelow defined) 
attached hereto and made a part hereof; and  

 
WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 

Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and  

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 

VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution (collectively, the “Multi-County Park Authority”), the 



2 

County intends to cause the site on which the Project is or will be located, to the extent not already therein 
located, in a multi-county industrial and business park (a “Park”) established by the County pursuant to 
qualifying agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county (the “Park Agreement”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has determined and found, on the basis of representations of the 

Company, that the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; that the Project 
will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality or a charge against 
the general credit or taxing power of either; that the purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., 
economic development, creation of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper 
governmental and public purposes; that the inducement of the location of the Project within the County and 
State is of paramount importance; and that the benefits of the Project will be greater than the costs; and the 
County has agreed to effect the delivery of an Inducement Agreement on the terms and conditions 
hereinafter set forth. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Council as follows: 
 
Section 1.  (a) Pursuant to the authority given to County Council by the South Carolina 

Constitution, the Code, the FILOT Act and the Multi-County Park Act, and subject to the enactment of 
required legislative authorizations by the County Council, and for the purpose of providing development 
incentives for the Project through the payment by the Company of fees in lieu of taxes with respect to the 
Project pursuant to Section 12-44-40 of the Act, and for the purpose of providing for the provision special 
source credits against payments in lieu of taxes made by the Company pursuant to a Park Agreement in order 
to allow reimbursement to the company for a portion of its investment in qualified Infrastructure within the 
meaning and purposes of Section 4-29-68 of the Code, there is hereby authorized to be executed an 
Inducement Agreement between the County and the Company pertaining to the Project, the form of which is 
now before the County Council (the “Inducement Agreement”) so as to establish, among other things, that 
the County and the Company will be parties to a fee in lieu tax and special source credit agreement (the “Fee 
Agreement”).  

 
(b)  The County Council will use its best efforts to take all reasonable acts to ensure that the 

Project will continuously be included within the boundaries of the Park or another qualified multi-county 
industrial or business park in order that the tax benefits contemplated hereunder and afforded by the laws 
of the State for projects located within multi-county industrial or business parks will be available to the 
Company for at least the term of the Fee Agreement. 

 
Section 2.  The provisions, terms and conditions of the Fee Agreement shall be prescribed and 

authorized by subsequent ordinance(s) of the County Council, which, to the extent not prohibited by law, 
shall be consistent with the terms of this Resolution. 

 
Section 3.  All orders, resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of 

such conflict, hereby repealed. This resolution shall take effect and be in full force from and after its passage 
by the County Council. 

 
Section 4.  The authorization of the execution and delivery of the documents related to the 

Inducement Agreement and Fee Agreement and all other related documents or obligations of the County is 
subject to the compliance by the County Council with the provisions of the Home Rule Act regarding the 
procedural requirements for adopting ordinances and resolutions. 

 
Section 5.  It is the intention of the County Council that this resolution shall constitute an 

inducement resolution with respect to the Project, within the meaning of the FILOT Act. 



3 

 
DONE in meeting duly assembled this 4th day of October 2022. 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

 
By:_______________________________________ 

      Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 

 
Attest: 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 
            Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 
            Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:       
 Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 



INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) made and entered into as of 
__________, ____ by and between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and 
corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and PROJECT COVE, 
a _______________________ (the “Company”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

ARTICLE I 
RECITATION OF FACTS 

 
 Section 1.1. As a means of setting forth the matters of mutual inducement which have resulted 
in the making and entering into of this Agreement, the following statements of fact are herewith recited: 
 
 (a) The County, by and through its County Council, is authorized and empowered by the 
provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park 
Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), to allow for the payment of certain 
fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to industrial properties; to issue special source revenue bonds, 
or in the alternative, to provide special source credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in 
respect of investment in certain infrastructure serving the County or the project, including improved or 
unimproved real estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the manufacturing 
or industrial enterprise (collectively, “Infrastructure”); through all such powers the development of the State 
of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing new industries to locate 
in the State and by encouraging industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus 
utilize and employ manpower and other resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided 
locally. 
 
 (b) The Company requested that the County assist in the acquisition, construction and 
installation of land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real 
and/or tangible personal property to constitute a lodging and recreation facility in the County (collectively, 
the “Project”), which will result in an expected investment by the Company in the Project of approximately 
$5,000,000 (the “Investment Target”) by December 31 of the fifth year after the first year in which any 
portion of the Project is first placed in service (the “Investment Period”). 
 
 (c) Pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article VIII, 
Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County will use its best efforts to place the site of the Project 
in a multi-county industrial and business park (the “Park”) established by the County pursuant to qualifying 
agreement with Greenville County or other adjoining county in the State (the “Park Agreement”). 
 
 (d) The County has determined after due investigation that the Project would be aided by the 
availability of the assistance which the County might render through applicable provisions of the FILOT 
Act and the Multi-County Park Act as economic development incentives, and the inducements offered, will, 
to a great degree, result in the Project locating in the County. Pursuant to this determination, the Company 
and the County have agreed to negotiate for payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes as authorized by the 
FILOT Act, and the Company and the County have agreed as set forth in the Fee Agreement, pursuant to 
Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act, that the Company would be afforded certain credits as 
described herein against its payments in lieu of taxes in respect of the Company’s investment in qualified 
Infrastructure within the meaning and purposes of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 
 



5 

 (e) The County has given due consideration to the economic development impact of the 
Project, and as a preliminary matter, based on representations by the Company, hereby finds and determines 
that (i) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing service, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally, (ii) the Project will give 
rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality or a charge against the general 
credit or taxing power of either, (iii) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic 
development, retention of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and 
public purposes, (iv) the inducement of the location of the Project within the County and State is of 
paramount importance and (v) the benefits of the Project will be greater than the costs. The County, 
therefore, has agreed to effect the issuance and delivery of this Agreement, pursuant to the FILOT Act, the 
Multi-County Park Act and a Resolution of the County Council dated ________, ____, and on the terms 
and conditions set forth. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE COUNTY 

 
 The County agrees as follows: 
 
 Section 2.1. The County, subject to the limits set forth herein, agrees to enter into a Fee in Lieu 
of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement with the Company with respect to the Project (the “Fee 
Agreement”).  
 
 Section 2.2. The Fee Agreement will be executed at such time and upon such mutually 
acceptable terms as the Company shall request, subject to the provisions of Sections 2.7 and 4.2 herein. 
 
 Section 2.3. The terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement shall be substantially in the form 
generally utilized in connection with the FILOT Act, as to be agreed upon by the County and the Company. 
The Fee Agreement shall contain, in substance, the following provisions: 
 

(a) The term of the Fee Agreement will be for a period of thirty (30) years, commencing with 
the first year of the capital investment made under the Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Fee Agreement shall provide that, in the performance of the agreements contained 
therein on the part of the County, such agreement will not give rise to any pecuniary liability of the County 
and shall not create a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the County, the State or any 
incorporated municipality. 

(c) The Fee Agreement shall contain a provision requiring the Company to make payments in 
lieu of taxes to the County for a period of thirty (30) years after each year of the capital investment made 
under the Fee Agreement during the Investment Period. The amounts of such payments shall be determined 
by using (i) an assessment ratio of 6%; (ii) a fixed millage rate of 325.27 mills (that is, the cumulative 
millage rate in effect at the site of the Project for all taxing entities as of June 30, 2021); and (iii) the fair 
market value of the Project property as determined by the South Carolina Department of Revenue in 
accordance with the FILOT Act. For purposes of computing the amount of such fee, in accordance with the 
terms of Section 12-44-50(2) of the FILOT Act, the property shall be allowed all applicable property tax 
exemptions except the exemption allowed under Section 3(g) of Article X of the Constitution of the State 
of South Carolina and the exemptions allowed pursuant to Sections 12-37-220(B)(32) and (34) of the Code.  



6 

(d) The Company may dispose of and replace property subject to fee in lieu of tax payments, 
as set forth in Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act; the fee with respect to such replacement property shall 
be calculated in accordance with the provisions of said Section 12-44-60. 

(e) In the event, the Investment Target has been met within the Investment Period, the 
Investment Period shall be extended an additional five (5) years. 

 Section 2.4. The County hereby consents to the planning, design, acquisition, construction and 
carrying out of the Project to commence prior to the execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement. Contracts 
for construction and for purchase of machinery, equipment and personal property deemed necessary under 
the Fee Agreement or that are otherwise permitted under the FILOT Act may be let by the Company, in its 
sole discretion. 
 
 Section 2.5. Pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act, the County, subject to 
the limits set forth herein, including Sections 2.7 and 4.2 hereof and pursuant to the Fee Agreement, will 
provide a special source credit against payments in lieu of taxes by the Company pursuant to the Park 
Agreement or the Fee Agreement, as the case may be, to reimburse the Company in respect of its investment 
in Infrastructure pertaining to the Project. In these respects, the Company shall be entitled to claim an annual 
special source credit equal to eighty-five percent (85%) for years one through five (1-5) and thirty-five 
percent (35%) for years six through ten (6-10) of each year’s payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Park 
Agreement, to be calculated and applied after any amount due the non-host county(ies), with respect to the 
Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the Company under the Fee Agreement during the 
Investment Period) for ten (10) consecutive years.  
 
 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company be 
entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of investment in the Project 
for which a special source credit is taken. 
 

In no event shall the aggregate amount of any special source credits claimed by the Company 
exceed the amount expended by it with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. 
 
 Section 2.6. Subject to the matters contained herein, the Fee Agreement will be executed at 
such time and upon such mutually acceptable terms as the parties shall agree. 
 
 Section 2.7. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the authorization by 
the County of the Fee Agreement is subject to compliance by the County with the provisions of the Home 
Rule Act regarding the enactment of ordinances and shall not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness 
of the County nor a pledge of the full faith and credit or the taxing power of the County. Further, the County 
will perform such other acts and adopt such other proceedings, consistent with this Agreement, as may be 
required to faithfully implement this Agreement and will assist, in good faith and with all reasonable 
diligence, with such usual and customary governmental functions as will assist the successful completion 
of the Project by the Company. The County has made no independent legal or factual investigation 
regarding the particulars of this Agreement or the transaction contemplated hereunder and, further, executes 
this Agreement in reliance upon the representations by the Company that the Agreement and related 
documents comply with all laws and regulations, particularly those pertinent to industrial development 
projects in the State. 
 
 Section 2.8. Should the Company fail to collectively invest at least $5,000,000 in connection 
with the Project, by the end of the Investment Period, the Company shall be liable for the difference between 
the amount of payments in lieu of taxes actually paid pursuant to the Fee Agreement (taking into account 
all infrastructure credits actually received) and the amount of ad valorem taxes which would have been due 



7 

and payable with respect to the Project had the Fee Agreement not been entered into, with interest at the 
rate payable for late payment of taxes. Any amounts determined to be owing pursuant to the foregoing 
sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the one hundred twentieth (120th) day following the 
last day of the Investment Period. 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE COMPANY 

 
 Section 3.1. Except with respect to the Fee Agreement, the County will have no obligation to 
assist the Company in finding any source of financing for all or any portion of the property constituting the 
Project and the Company may endeavor to finance the Project to the extent required to finance the cost of 
the acquisition and installation of the Project. 
 
 Section 3.2. If the Project proceeds as contemplated: 
 
 (a) The Company agrees to enter into the Fee Agreement, under the terms of which it will 
obligate themselves to make the payments required by the FILOT Act including, but not limited to, 
payments in lieu of taxes at rates calculated in accordance with Section 2.3(c) hereof; 
 
 (b) With respect to the Project, the Company agrees to reimburse the County for all out-of-
pocket costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees of the County actually incurred, and other out-of-pocket 
expenditures to third parties to which the County might be reasonably put with regard to executing and 
entering into this Agreement and the Fee Agreement; 
 

(c) The Company agrees to hold the County harmless from all pecuniary liability including, 
without limitation, environmental liability, and to reimburse the County for all expenses to which the 
County might be put in the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement and in the negotiation and 
implementation of its terms and provisions, including reasonable legal expenses and fees;  
 

(d) The Company agrees to apply for, and use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, all 
permits, licenses, authorizations and approvals required by all governmental authorities in connection with 
the construction and implementation of the Project;  
 

(e) The Company agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the County and the individual members, 
officers, agents and employees thereof harmless against any claim or loss or damage to property or any injury 
or death of any person or persons occurring in connection with the planning, design, acquisition, construction, 
leasing, carrying out or operation of the Project, including without limitation any environmental liability. The 
defense obligation shall be supplied with legal counsel reasonably acceptable to the County. The Company 
agrees also agrees to reimburse or otherwise pay, on behalf of the County, any and all expenses not 
hereinbefore mentioned incurred by the County in connection with the Project, including the review and 
execution of the Resolution and this Agreement; and 
 

(f) The Company agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to meet, or cause to be met, 
the Investment Target during the Investment Period. 
 
 



8 

ARTICLE IV 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
 Section 4.1. All commitments of the County under Article II hereof are subject to all of the 
provisions of the FILOT Act and the Multi-County Park Act, including, without limitation, the condition 
that nothing contained in this Agreement shall constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County 
or any incorporated municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing powers of either. 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS PROVIDED FOR 
HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY 
SOLELY FROM THE NET FEE PAYMENTS RECEIVED AND RETAINED BY THE COUNTY, AND 
DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE 
MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE PROVISIONS OF 
ARTICLE X, SECTION 14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY 
LIMITATION, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A 
PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR A CHARGE AGAINST ITS GENERAL CREDIT OR 
TAXING POWER. THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE NOT 
PLEDGED FOR THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS. 
 
 Section 4.2. All commitments of the County and the Company hereunder are subject to the 
condition that the County and the Company agree on mutually acceptable terms and conditions of all 
documents, the execution and delivery of which are contemplated by the provisions hereof, and the adoption 
by the County Council of an ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of such documents and 
approving the terms thereof. If the parties enter into the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit 
Agreement, each party shall perform such further acts and adopt such further proceedings as may be 
required to faithfully implement its undertakings pursuant to such agreement. 
 
 Section 4.3. If for any reason this Agreement (as opposed to the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special 
Source Credit Agreement, which is contemplated to be negotiated, signed and delivered subsequent to the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement) is not executed and delivered by the Company on or before 
December 31, 2023, the provisions of this Agreement may be cancelled by the County by delivery of written 
notice of cancellation signed by the County Administrator and delivered to the Company; thereafter neither 
party shall have any further rights against the other and no third parties shall have any rights against either 
party except that the Company shall pay the out-of-pocket expenses to third parties of officers, agents and 
employees of the County and counsel for the County incurred in connection with the authorization and 
approval of the Fee Agreement. 
 
 Section 4.4. The parties understand that the Company may choose not to proceed with the 
Project, in which event this Agreement shall be cancelled and, subject to parties’ obligations described in 
Section 4.3 hereof, neither party shall have any further rights against the other, and no third party shall have 
any rights against either party. 
 
 Section 4.5. To the maximum extent allowable under the FILOT Act and the Multi-County 
Park Act, the Company may, with the prior consent of the County (which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld), assign (including, without limitation, absolute, collateral, and other assignments) all or part of 
their rights and/or obligations under this Agreement to one or more other entities, in connection with the 
Fee Agreement, without adversely affecting the benefits to the Company or its assignees pursuant hereto 
or pursuant to the FILOT Act or the Multi-County Park Act; provided, however, that the Company may 
make any such assignment to an affiliate of the Company without obtaining the consent of the County, to 
the extent permitted by law. 
 



9 

 Section 4.6. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed by or 
on behalf of all parties by their duly authorized officers and approved by appropriate legal process. No 
amendment, modification, or termination of this Agreement, and no waiver of any provisions or consent 
required hereunder shall be valid unless consented to in writing by all parties. 
 
 Section 4.7. Nothing in this Agreement or any attachments hereto is intended to create, and no 
provision hereof should be so construed or interpreted as to create any third party beneficiary rights in any 
form whatsoever nor any form of partnership or other legal entity relationship between the County and the 
Company. 
 
 Section 4.8. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties regarding the 
matters set forth herein. This Agreement shall be interpreted by the laws of the State. 
 
  



10 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, each after due authorization, have executed this 
Inducement Agreement on the respective dates indicated below, as of the date first above written. 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
        
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 
 

 
Attest: 
 
 
By:________________________________________ 
            Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 1 OF INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT] 
  



11 

 
 

PROJECT COVE 
 
 
      By:_________________________________________ 
      Name:______________________________ 
      Title:______________________________ 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 2 OF INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT] 
 
 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk of the County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby 
certify that the foregoing is a true, correct and verbatim copy of resolution duly adopted at a meeting of said 
County Council held on October 4, 2022, at which meeting a quorum was at all times present.  
 
 WITNESS MY HAND this 4th day of October, 2022.  
 
 
 
 ____________________________________ 
   Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
   Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 



























MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is entered into this     day of ______, 2022 
by and between Anderson County, South Carolina, Starr-Iva Water and Sewer District, and Lollis 
Metals, Inc. collectively referred to as the “Parties.” 

 
WHEREAS, Lollis Metals, Inc. (“Lollis Metals”) is in the process of an expansion of its 

business and Anderson County, South Carolina (“Anderson County”) has approved an economic 
development incentive package related to the expansion; 

 
WHEREAS, the Lollis Metals expansion requires the location of a fire hydrant near the 

expansion in order to provide satisfactory fire protection; 
 

WHEREAS, the Lollis Metals facility lies within the geographic boundary of the Starr- 
Iva Water and Sewer District (“Starr-Iva District”); 

 
WHEREAS, the most economical project for placement of a hydrant near Lollis Metals 

is to tap onto the Homeland Park Water and Sewer District water system; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Starr-Iva District has negotiated an agreement with Homeland Park 
Water and Sewer District for providing a waterline to Lollis Metals. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

 
1. The Starr-Iva District will provide engineering and construction services and 

project management services to tap into the Homeland Water and Sewer District water system at 
or near Keys & Ellen Street to provide a 6-inch water main to the Lollis Metals site a distance of 
approximately 2,400 feet. 

 
2. The project is estimated to cost $215,232.50. The parties agree to share the cost of 

the project as follows: 
 

a. Anderson County and Lollis Metals will provide at least $161,424.23 toward the project 
cost with 80% of this amount to be provided by Anderson County and 20% to be 
provided by Lollis Metals. 

 
b. The remainder of the project cost will be provided by the Starr-Iva District. 

 
 

3. The parties will establish a schedule of meetings to communicate concerning the 
progress of the project. 

 
4. This MOU constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and there are no 

collateral contracts or agreements between the Parties related to the subject matter of this MOU. 



5. This MOU may be amended or modified only by written agreement signed by the 
Parties. 

 

6. The rights and objectives under this MOU are not assignable by the individual 
Parties. 

 

7. This MOU will terminate upon completion of the project and placing the waterline 
in service as described herein. 

 
8. This MOU shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of South 

Carolina, without regard to conflicts of laws principles. 
 

9. In the event a dispute arises under this MOU, the Parties shall engage in non- 
binding mediation before any party files a lawsuit. Any suit must be filed in the Circuit Court for 
Anderson County as non-jury matter, and the Parties hereby WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO A JURY 
TRIAL. 

 
10. In the event that any term or provision of this MOU shall be declared invalid or 

unenforceable by a Court of Competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this MOU shall be 
considered severable and shall remain binding and enforceable. 

 

11. The Parties to this MOU hereby certify that they have authority to enter into this 
MOU. 

 

ENTERED into on the date written hereinabove. 

Anderson County, South Carolina 

BY:  
Its:  
Printed Name:  

 

Starr-Iva Water and Sewer District 
 

BY:  
Its:  
Printed Name:  

 
 

Lollis Metals, Inc, 
 

BY:  
Its:  
Printed Name:  























RECREATION FUND APPROPRIATIONS 
APPLICATION FORM 

 
WHAT DISTRICT(S) ARE YOU REQUESTING FUNDING FROM: 

DISTRICT:  3 
 

Mail/Email/Fax to: 
Anderson County Council Clerk 

P. O. Box 8002 
Anderson, SC 29622 

lacroegaert@andersoncountysc.org 
Fax:  864-260-4356 

 
1.  Name of entity requesting recreation fund appropriation: City of Belton  

 
 

2.  Amount of request (If requesting funds from more than one district, annotate amount from each 
district): $15,000.00 

 
3. The purpose for which the funds are being requested: We are requesting reimbursement funding for 

the Dixie Youth State Tournament and the World Series that were held in Anderson County. The 
city had expenditures related to the tournament that was paid out of the recreation budget that we 
are unable to recoup.  
 

4. Is the entity a non-profit corporation in good standing with the South Carolina Secretary of State?  If so, 
please attach evidence of that good standing. N/A 
 

5. Contact Person: Alan Sims  
Mailing Address: PO Box 828 Belton, SC 29267  
Phone Number: 864-338-7773 Ext 100  
Email: alansims@cityofbeltonsc.com 
 

6.  Statement as to whether the entity will be providing matching funds: The city did provide some in-
kind labor for this tournament throughout the year.  
 
 
I certify that the forgoing is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and that I am authorized to 
make this application on behalf of the above named entity. 
 
 
_________________________/________________________________________ 
Signature                                      Print Name                                        Date 
 




	Agneda CCM October 4, 2022
	2a Resolution 2022-056 Oconee County
	2b Resolution Mary Forrester
	6a Ordinance 2022-036 5930 Hwy 187
	6b Ordinance 2022-039 MCIP Project Care
	6c Ordinance 2022-040 Transfer to Town of Pelzer
	6d Ordinance 2022-041 RW Big Water Marina
	6e Reconsideration Ordinance 2022-037
	7a Ordinance 2022-045 Lease 1428 Building
	7b Ordinance 2022-046 3508 Dixon Rd
	7c Ordinance 2022-047 Beaverdam Rd
	8a Ordinance 2022-048 Tetramet MCIP Title Only
	8b Ordinance 2022-049 Project Cove
	8c Ordinaqnce 2022-050 MCIP Project Cove
	9a Resolution 2022-057 Project Cove Inducement Agr.
	10a Bid #23-008 Waste Tire Recycling
	10b Bid #23-009 Articulating Hauler
	10c Bid #23-010 Asbestos Abatement
	11 MOU Starr-Iva Water & Sewer
	12a Anderson Free Clinic
	12b Hope Missions
	12c Anderson Arts Center
	12d Town of West Pelzer
	12e United Way 211
	12f United Way Camp iRock
	12g Piedmont Public Service
	12h City of Belton
	12i Town of Starr



